COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN

CITY OF JOLIET

AND

ILLINOIS FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE

LABOR COUNCIL

Effective January 1, 2020 thru December 31, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE		1
ARTICLE I RECO	GNITION	
SECTION 1.1	Recognition	1
SECTION 1.2	Employer Representative	
SECTION 1.3	Contract Supplied	
ARTICLE II INTE	NT AND PURPOSE	
SECTION 2.1	Intent of the Parties	2
SECTION 2.2	Political Non-Discrimination	2
SECTION 2.3	Management Rights	2
ARTICLE III BAR	GAINING REPRESENTATIVE	3
SECTION 3.1	Bargaining Rights	3
SECTION 3.2	Labor Council Representatives	3
SECTION 3.3	Limits to Number of Bargaining Committee Members	3
SECTION 3.4	Committee Time Off	3
ARTICLE IV DISC	CRIMINATION	3
ARTICLE V GRIE	VANCE PROCEDURE	4
SECTION 5.1	Definition	4
SECTION 5.2	Waiver of Board of Fire and Police Commissioners Jurisdiction	6
SECTION 5.3	Attendance at Grievance Meetings	8
SECTION 5.4	Time Limits	
ARTICLE VI REG	ULAR MEETINGS	8
ARTICLE VII SEN	VIORITY	9
SECTION 7.1	Limitations	9
SECTION 7.2	Seniority Defined	9
SECTION 7.3	Seniority Determined	10
SECTION 7.4	Seniority Lists	10
SECTION 7.5	Application	10
ARTICLE VIII JOE	3 OPENINGS ADVANCEMENT TRANSFER AND LAY-OFFS	10
SECTION 8.1	Job Posting and Bidding	10
SECTION 8.2	Filling a Position	
SECTION 8.3	Temporary Positions	11
SECTION 8.4	Working Out of Classification Pay	11
SECTION 8.5	Lay Offs and Recall:	
ARTICLE IX DUE	S CHECKOFF AND FAIR SHARE	
SECTION 9.1	Dues Checkoff	12

SECTION 9.2	Religion Exemption:	12
SECTION 9.3	Indemnification	13
ARTICLE X TRA	INING AND EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE	13
SECTION 10.1	General	13
SECTION 10.2	Compensation	13
SECTION 10.3	This Section Is Intentionally Blank	13
SECTION 10.4	Reimbursement Assistance	13
ARTICLE XI LEA	VES OF ABSENCE	14
SECTION 11.1	Sick Leave	14
SECTION 11.2	Maternity and Paternity Leave of Absence	16
SECTION 11.3	Military Training Leave	17
SECTION 11.4	Training Leave	17
SECTION 11.5	Emergency Leaves	17
SECTION 11.6	Family Death Leave	17
SECTION 11.7	Failure to Return After Leave	18
SECTION 11.8	Personal Leave	18
SECTION 11.9	FOP Time Off	18
SECTION 11.10	Thirty (30) Day Special Leave	18
ARTICLE XII WO	PRK HOURS	19
SECTION 12.1	Normal Work Day/Work Week	19
SECTION 12.2	Overtime Compensation	19
SECTION 12.3	Court Time	20
SECTION 12.4	Training Pay	21
SECTION 12.5	Call-Out Pay	21
SECTION 12.6	Changes to Posted Shift Schedule	21
SECTION 12.7	Field Training Officers	22
SECTION 12.8	Sub-Station Assignments	22
SECTION 12.9	Travel Time	22
ARTICLE XIII HO	DLIDAYS	23
SECTION 13.1	Recognized Holidays	23
SECTION 13.2	Holiday Compensation	23
ARTICLE XIV W	AGES	24
SECTION 14.1	Annual Base Salary	24
SECTION 14.2	Payment for Meals	24
SECTION 14.3	Pay Step Advancement	24
SECTION 14.4	Patrol Officer and Master Patrol Officer	25

SECTION 14.5	Automatic Advancement to Master Patrol Officer	25
SECTION 14.6	K-9 Officer	25
SECTION 14.7	Special Assignment Pay	26
SECTION 14.8	Pick Up and Payment of Employee Pension Contribution	26
ARTICLE XV GE	NERAL CONDUCT	27
SECTION 15.1	Conduct and Discipline	27
SECTION 15.2	Bill of Rights	27
SECTION 15.3	Non-Disclosure	27
SECTION 15.4	Operations Manual	27
ARTICLE XVI SA	FETY AND HEALTH	27
SECTION 16.1	Safety Conditions	27
SECTION 16.2	Joint Safety Committee	28
ARTICLE XVII B	ULLETIN BOARDS	28
ARTICLE XVIII V	/ACATION	28
SECTION 18.1	Vacation Accrual	28
SECTION 18.2	Forfeiture	28
SECTION 18.3	Scheduling	29
SECTION 18.4	Scheduling Exceptions	29
SECTION 18.5	Vacation Pay	29
ARTICLE XIX CL	OTHING	29
SECTION 19.1	Uniform and Equipment Supplied	29
SECTION 19.2	Plainclothes Allowances	29
SECTION 19.3	Body Armor	30
ARTICLE XX LO	NGEVITY PAY	30
SECTION 20.1	Longevity Pay Schedule	30
SECTION 20.2	Eligibility	30
ARTICLE XXI GR	ROUP INSURANCE PROGRAM	31
SECTION 21.1	Health Benefit Plan for Active Employees:	31
SECTION 21.2	Health Benefit Plan for Separating Employees (Retirees)	36
SECTION 21.3	Health Benefit Plan for Disabled Employees	38
SECTION 21.4	Health Benefit Plan for Surviving Spouse	38
SECTION 21.5	Program Coverage	39
SECTION 21.6	Joint Health Care Review Committee	39
SECTION 21.7	Other Benefits	39
ARTICLE XXII N	O STRIKE - NO LOCK OUT	40
SECTION 22.1	M. Gartha	40

SECTION 22.2	No Lockout	40
ARTICLE XXIII D	RUG TESTING	40
SECTION 23.1	Definitions	40
SECTION 23.2	Prohibitions	40
SECTION 23.3	Type of Testing	41
SECTION 23.4	Order to Take Test	41
SECTION 23.5	Specialized Units	41
SECTION 23.6	Right to Contest	41
SECTION 23.7	Voluntary Requests for Assistance	41
SECTION 23.8	Department-Wide Random Testing	42
SECTION 23.9	Testing Permitted	43
SECTION 23.10	Testing Notice and Representation	43
SECTION 23.11	Tests Conducted	43
SECTION 23.12	Results	44
SECTION 23.13	Compensation and Costs	44
ARTICLE XXIV E	MPLOYEE SECURITY	45
SECTION 24.1	Probationary Period	45
SECTION 24.2	Just Cause Standard	45
SECTION 24.3	Personnel Files	45
SECTION 24.4	Employee Indemnification	46
SECTION 24.5	Procedures for the Evaluation of Applicants for the Rank of Police Sergeant	46
SECTION 24.6	Residency	47
ARTICLE XXV TE	ERM AND MODIFICATION	48
SECTION 25.1	Retroactivity	48
SECTION 25.2	Duration	48
SECTION 25.3	Right to Re-open	48
RATIFICATION		49
	ICE MASTER PATROL OFFICER	
APPENDIX B POL	ICE PATROL OFFICER	52
APPENDIX C HEA	LTH INSURANCE PROGRAM	54
APPENDIX D		55
APPENDIX E AGR	REED PERMANENT PANEL OF ARBITRATORS	56
APPENDIX F SAL	ARY SCHEDULE	57
APPENDIX "G"		58
APPENDIX "I"		60

APPENDIX "J".....63

PREAMBLE

This Statement of Policy, effective the first day of January 1993 by the City, of Joliet, Illinois, to employees working under the operations, conditions and requirements of the City of Joliet, hereinafter referred to as the "City" or "Management", and the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council hereinafter referred to as the "Labor Council". The City shall make an effort to maintain a sufficient number of personnel on duty for each scheduled shift in order to provide adequate service to the public and insure minimum safety for employees.

ARTICLE I

RECOGNITION

SECTION 1.1 Recognition

The City of Joliet, Illinois, recognizes the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative of all sworn, full-time police officers below the rank of sergeant, which includes Police Patrol Officers and Master Patrol Officers, of the City of Joliet Police Department with respect to salary, hours, fringe benefits, and other conditions of employment.

The City agrees that it will not interfere with the rights of the employees to become members of the Labor Council, and agrees that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the Police Department or the City, or any of its authorized agents, against any employee because of his or her membership in the Labor Council or because of his or her presenting a grievance, or against any employee who may represent others in the discharge of his or her duties, or a member of any committee of the Labor Council. The Labor Council agrees for itself and its members, individually and collectively, to perform loyal and efficient work in the service of the Police Department at all times.

SECTION 1.2 Employer Representative

The City agrees that the City Manager or his designated representative shall be its agent with regard to any communications or matters presented by the Labor Council and further that the City and the City Manager, or his designated representative shall receive any and all communication regarding any matters and activities of any nature whatsoever of the Labor Council only through the Bargaining Committee or authorized representative of the Labor Council.

SECTION 1.3 Contract Supplied

The City shall provide a sufficient number of copies of this working Agreement for the Labor Council and bargaining unit members, within forty five (45) days of adoption.

Union

ARTICLE II

<u>INTENT AND PURPOSE</u>

SECTION 2.1 Intent of the Parties

It is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto that this Agreement will serve to promote and improve the relationship between the members of the Labor Council and the City, and to set forth herein the basic policy concerning compensation, hours of work, and other terms and conditions of employment that will be observed between the parties hereto. It is recognized by both parties that the proper and efficient operation of the City service is necessary to the welfare of the community and that proper function and increased efficiency can be established only through the complete cooperation of Employer and the members of the Labor Council. It is the belief of both parties that this attitude can best be encouraged when it is made clear that both Employer and Labor Council officials, are the guardians of a public trust and are not anti-union or anti-management, but are sincerely concerned with the best interests and well being of the members of the Labor Council as well as the public, which is served by the parties. Each employee shall be dealt with fairly, impartially and without personal bias.

SECTION 2.2 Political Non-Discrimination

In a community such as ours, there are certain regulations which govern the conduct of employees of the City and of the Police Department, just as there are regulations covering citizens in the community in which we live. These regulations have been devised to assure uniform administration of discipline and to end political patronage for City jobs which undermines the public confidence and the morale of those workers who are doing an effective job, and to reduce wasteful turnover. Accordingly, no employee shall be demoted, removed, discharged or otherwise disciplined on account of his political affiliation.

SECTION 2.3 Management Rights

Except as specifically limited to the express provisions of this Agreement, the City retains exclusively the right to manage and direct the affairs of the City in all of its various aspects and to manage and direct its employees, including but not limited to the following: to plan, direct, control and determine all the operations and services of the City; to determine the methods, means, organization, and number of personnel by which such operations and services shall be performed; to change or eliminate existing productivity standards, methods, materials, equipment and facilities and/or to introduce new or improved ones; to determine whether goods or services shall be made, performed, or purchased; to determine what services and operations shall be performed by the City or whether they shall otherwise be serviced, operated, or performed, and to determine their nature; to establish, schedule and change the hours of work; to assign employees to work as needed; to make and enforce reasonable work rules and, to lay off and to relieve employees from duty for just cause.





ARTICLE III

BARGAINING REPRESENTATIVE

SECTION 3.1 Bargaining Rights

The City and the Labor Council agree that the Labor Council shall bargain collectively for all employees covered by this Agreement.

SECTION 3.2 Labor Council Representatives

Labor Council Representatives and duly elected members of the local Bargaining Committee shall represent the bargaining unit in matters that arise between the Labor Council and the City.

SECTION 3.3 Limits to Number of Bargaining Committee Members

The Bargaining Committee may, if it desires, be accompanied by staff representatives of the Labor Council or legal representatives in its meetings with the City. The Bargaining Committee agrees to limit the number of its representatives to seven (7) persons, to the extent possible. If the total bargaining unit representation will exceed seven (7) people, the bargaining unit shall inform the City in advance as to the number to attend.

SECTION 3.4 Committee Time Off

The Bargaining Committee members shall be assured such time off with pay as may be required to attend regularly scheduled committee meetings with the City's Management bargaining team on all matters concerning wages, hours and working conditions, provided it does not interfere with the efficient operation of the Police Department.

ARTICLE IV

DISCRIMINATION

In accordance with applicable law, neither the City nor the Labor Council shall discriminate against any employee covered by this Agreement because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, marital status or Labor Council membership status, or as a result of an employee who exercises his/her rights under this Agreement.



ARTICLE V

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

SECTION 5.1 Definition

For the purpose of the parties of this Agreement, a grievance shall be considered a dispute between an employee or the Labor Council and the Employer concerning wages, hours, and conditions of employment or application of the Agreement. The Labor Council and the City agree that the City and Chief of Police will not recognize a grievance or matter of personal working conditions presented by an employee covered by this Agreement not in accordance with the procedures hereby established. The Labor Council agrees that no Employee covered by this Agreement shall bring any matter covered by the terms of this Agreement personally to the Chief of Police, Management, or the City Council, but shall follow the procedure outlined below. Recognizing that grievances should be raised and settled promptly, a grievance must be raised within twenty (20) calendar days of the event giving rise to the grievance or twenty (20) calendar days from the time the employee reasonably should have known of the event, and shall be processed as follows:

<u>STEP 1</u> Whenever an employee believes that he or she has a grievance, the employee shall report it in writing to his or her Bargaining Committee Officers. The Bargaining Committee Officers may, with or without the aggrieved employee, take up the grievance with the employee's immediate supervisor. The supervisor shall then attempt to adjust the matter and shall respond to the Bargaining Committee Officers in writing within five (5) working days.

<u>STEP 2</u> If the grievance has not been settled, it shall be presented in writing by the Bargaining Committee, to the Division Head within five (5) working days after the supervisor's response is due. The Division Head shall respond to the employee or the Bargaining Committee in writing within five (5) working days.

If the City or the aggrieved employee or Labor Council wish to appeal from Step 2, the grievance and appeal shall be presented in writing to the Chief of Police or the Chiefs authorized representative, and the Chief of Police or the authorized representative wilt arrange a meeting with the aggrieved employee, the Labor Council and/or Bargaining Committee within five (5) working days after the grievance has been filed with the Chief or the representative. However, if the Labor Council or Bargaining Committee member or the aggrieved employee or the Chief of Police or the authorized representative specifically requested an extension of time within the five (5) day period, an extension not to exceed an additional five (5) working days, shall be granted. At this meeting, both parties will be allowed to introduce and guestion persons familiar with the facts of the grievance. The Labor Council and the employee may be represented by officers of the Labor Council, the Bargaining Committee or legal representative if it so desires. The Chief of Police may call upon the Corporation Counsel, City Attorney, or any other City personnel for assistance. In no case will the grievance meeting be extended beyond a ten (10) working day period from the date the grievance was originally filed with the Chief of Police without the written consent of both parties. In this

Union Union

meeting the parties will attempt to resolve the grievance to the satisfaction of the employee, Labor Council and City and the matter shall be responded to the Labor Council in writing.

STEP 4 If an agreement is not reached at the level of Step 3, at any time within ten (10) working days after the meeting of the parties in Step 3, the aggrieved employee, the Labor Council or the City by and through the Chief of Police, or the Chiefs authorized representative may file a written request to meet with the City Manager and present their respective arguments. All previous written grievances, requests, documents, and dispositions of meetings and hearings shall be attached to the written request presented to the City Manager. The City Manager may then consider the grievance on the basis of the written documents filed with him or her or may call for a meeting between the aggrieved employee, the Labor Council, members of the Bargaining Committee Grievance Committee and the Chief of Police and have further hearings on the matter if the City manager deems this necessary. In any event the City Manager shall render a written decision of the City in any such grievance within ten (10) working days after being taken under consideration by either written documents or hearing. The City and the aggrieved employee may be represented by legal counsel if they so desire.

STEP 5

- (a) If the grievance remains unsettled, either the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council or the City Manager may, within ten (10) working days from the receipt or statement of the City's position following the Step 4 meeting, file a written notice requesting binding arbitration between the Labor Council and City.
- (b) The arbitration proceedings shall be conducted by an arbitrator to be selected by the City and the Labor Council within seven (7) days after notice has been given. If the parties fail to select an arbitrator, the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) shall be requested by either or both parties to provide a panel of arbitrators. Within seven (7) business days after receipt of the list from FMCS, the two parties shall alternately strike one name at a time from the list, with the party striking first being determined by a toss of the coin. The arbitrator thus selected shall decide the merits of the grievance.
- (c) The arbitrator shall have no authority to subtract from, or change any of the terms of the agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties and the arbitrator shall be requested to issue his decision within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of testimony and argument.
- (d) Expenses for the arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall be equally borne by the City and the Labor Council. However, each party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceedings, it may cause such



a record to be made, providing it pays for the record and makes copies available without charge to the other party and to the arbitrator.

SECTION 5.2 Waiver of Board of Fire and Police Commissioners Jurisdiction

(a) Contesting Discipline

If an employee wishes to contest recommended discipline, the Chief of Police or the Chiefs designee will hold an Administrative Review meeting with the employee and the employee's Union representatives. Upon completion of the Administrative Review, the Chief of Police will issue a Final Decision as to discipline ("Final Decision"), and notify the affected employee and the Labor Council in writing. At the employee's option, disciplinary action against the employee may be contested either through the arbitration procedure in Sub-section (b) below or through the Joliet Board of Fire and Police Commissioners (BOFPC), but not both, subject to the following: Discipline of a 5 working day suspension or more, and termination, may be appealed through either the arbitration process or the BOFPC. All other discipline (less than a 5 working day suspension) can only be appealed via the arbitration procedure.

In order to exercise this option, an officer must execute an Election, Waiver and Release form ("Election Form") agreed to by the parties to this Collective Bargaining Agreement (attached as Appendices "G" and "H"). The Election Forms shall be given to the officer at the time the officer is formally notified of the Final Decision. The employee shall have five (5) business days (Monday through Friday, excluding weekends and holidays) upon receipt of Election Forms to tender an executed Election Form to the Chief or the Chiefs designee. The employee need only execute and submit one form, either form "G" or "H", whichever appropriately reflects the option elected. If the employee selects arbitration as the method of contesting the proposed discipline, the Election Form shall constitute a grievance, which shall be deemed filed at the City Manager Step. If the employee selects the BOFPC as the method of contesting discipline, the employee need not take any action other than filing a timely Election Form in order to invoke the jurisdiction of the BOFPC. If the employee elects to have the appeal heard by the BOFPC, then the Chief must file appropriate charges before the BOFPC. The charges must be filed by the Chief within 90 days of the filing of the Election Form.

If the employee selects arbitration as the method of contesting discipline, within fourteen (14) days of the election (or longer if the parties mutually agree) the parties shall meet with the City Manager. If the matter is not resolved at the City Manager level, within fourteen (14) days (or longer if the parties mutually agree), the parties shall select an arbitrator and proceed with the arbitration process.

The Chief of Police has the right and discretion to impose discipline immediately upon the issuance of a Final Decision, including suspensions of more than five (5) working days and termination.

If an officer or the Labor Council fails to timely file the Election Form or the Arbitration Notice, such failure shall be deemed a waiver of the right to contest or appeal the Final Decision. Further, once an employee files an Election Form, the employee's

MT()

choice of appeal method shall be considered irrevocable and a waiver of the right to appeal via an alternate method.

(b) Expedited Discipline Arbitration

- (1) The parties agree to use the arbitration panel attached hereto as an Appendix. Once each calendar year, in the month of November, either or both parties may strike not more than one (1) name from the established panel of arbitrators contained in the attached Appendix. A new, successor, Arbitrator shall be named as the replacement, by mutual agreement of the parties; or, selected according to Section 5.1 STEP 5 (b) of this Agreement if no agreement is reached.
- (2) Arbitrators shall be assigned cases on a numerical order according to their position on the established panel list, which shall be established in alphabetical order.
- (3) The City and the Union agree to comply in a timely fashion with reasonable written requests made by each other for information necessary to prepare the case for arbitration, provided such information is not privileged or otherwise protected under law from disclosure.
- (4) It is the intent and desire of the parties to conduct the arbitration hearing as soon as is practicable. Time is of the essence. To that end, in no event shall the arbitration hearing be held more than 60 days after the date the Labor Council files its Arbitration Notice unless none of the arbitrators on the seven member panel are available within said sixty day period or unless the City and the Labor Council otherwise agree in writing. If a hearing cannot be conducted within said sixty day period due solely to arbitrator unavailability, then the arbitration shall be conducted on the first date that any of the panel becomes available.
- (5) In the event post-hearing briefs are to be submitted, both parties agree to submit the briefs by simultaneous exchange through the Arbitrator.
- (6) The Arbitrator selected to hear the case shall be requested to issue a written decision within thirty (30) days of the closing arguments or receipt of the post-hearing written briefs, whichever is applicable.
- (7) The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on all parties, provided the Arbitrator's decision shall be based on the record made at the Hearing, the Collective Bargaining Agreement and applicable law. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to subtract from or change any of the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.



- (8) The City and the Union shall equally split the cost of the Arbitrator's fees and expenses. In the event a court reporter is used, the parties shall equally share in the cost of the reporter and the arbitrator's copy of the transcript. The parties shall be responsible for their own costs of a transcript of the hearing.
- (9) The same Arbitrator may hear more than one case at the same time, by mutual agreement of the parties.

(c) Information Concerning Pending Investigations

The City shall endeavor to complete internal investigations within sixty (60) days of notifying the employee of the investigation. If the investigation does not involve allegations of criminal misconduct, and a Final Decision has not been rendered within said 60 days, the Labor Council or the employee may request that the Chief provide a status report regarding the investigation and an estimate as to when the investigation may be completed. The failure to complete the investigation within sixty (60) days or as may be otherwise estimated by the Chief shall not diminish the jurisdiction or authority of the Chief in imposing discipline or taking any other action.

SECTION 5.3 Attendance at Grievance Meetings

Meetings in the grievance procedure involving representatives from the City and the Labor Council shall be held during working hours, on the City's premises and without loss of pay to any two (2) bargaining unit members providing that these grievance discussions and investigations shall take place in a manner which does not interfere with City operations. If the presence of additional on-duty bargaining members is required or desired by the Union, such members shall be permitted to attend using FOP benefit time to remain in a pay status. This provision shall neither cause payment of overtime nor unreasonably shorten the normal duty shift.

SECTION 5.4 Time Limits

No grievance shall be entertained or processed unless it is filed within the required time limits. Time limits at any step of the procedure may be extended by mutual written agreement. If a grievance is not appealed within the time limits for appeal set forth above, it shall be deemed withdrawn without precedent or prejudice. If the City fails to provide an answer within the time limits as provided, the Labor Council may immediately appeal to the next step.

ARTICLE VI

REGULAR MEETINGS

To facilitate the orderly discussion and the proper disposition of such questions as may arise between the City and the Labor Council, it is understood and agreed that regular meetings will be held quarterly by the Bargaining Committee, the Chief of Police, the City Manager, and other representatives of the City of Joliet. The party requesting the meeting shall provide an agenda which shall state the subject(s) to be discussed. Such

M J ()

agenda should be submitted at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting; unless mutually agreed otherwise, in writing.

ARTICLE VII

SENIORITY

SECTION 7.1 Limitations

The parties hereto agree that, except as provided hereunder, seniority for promotion and other purposes is generally within the control and jurisdiction of the Board of Fire and Police Commissioners.

SECTION 7.2 Seniority Defined

For the purpose of this Agreement, three (3) types of seniority shall be recognized by the City of Joliet.

- (a) City Seniority Accumulated time from the date the employee is hired by the City.
- (b) Departmental Seniority Accumulated time from the date the employee begins service as a police officer for the City.
- (c) Time in Grade Seniority Accumulated time from the date the employee achieves promotion to a higher grade.

An employee's earned seniority shall not be lost because of absence due to illness or injury as long as the employee remains in the service of the City, while on authorized leaves of absence or temporary lay off; provided, however, that if an employee severs service with the City to accept a disability pension and the employee's disability pension is later terminated and the employee returns to the City's active service, the employee shall be entitled to his or her accumulated seniority which existed at the time the employee was placed on the disability pension but the employee shall not be entitled to seniority credit for the time the employee was on a disability pension; provided further, that seniority credit for a temporary lay off shall be given for one year if the employee does not withdraw his or her contributions to the Police Pension Fund; and provided, finally, that any employee who resigns or is dismissed for just cause from the City's service shall lose all seniority credit.

An employee shall not earn seniority during such time that the employee is actually serving a disciplinary suspension, but only to the extent such suspension exceeds forty-five (45) days and relates to a single occurrence or administrative investigation. Suspensions that are held in abeyance shall not be counted towards said forty-five day period unless the suspension is actually served.

M D) Union

SECTION 7.3 Seniority Determined

If more than one person is hired on the same day, the employee with the highest score on the original written examination only shall have the greatest departmental seniority over those hired on the same day, the next higher written examination score the next higher departmental seniority, and so on until a determination of departmental seniority is made for all hired on the same date. Only permanent employees will be eligible for seniority credit.

SECTION 7.4 Seniority Lists

The seniority list will be brought up to date each six (6) months, on July 1st and January 1st and copies sent to the Bargaining Committee and posted on the bulletin board.

SECTION 7.5 Application

The parties hereto agree that seniority shall govern the following matters:

- (a) Vacation for each calendar year shall be drawn by employees on the basis of departmental seniority preference.
- (b) When promotion to a higher rank is achieved, departmental seniority shall remain but time in rank will be used for vacation preference whereby those with higher seniority in a rank will receive preference for vacation over all others in the same rank. Officers in acting status shall be considered for vacations with those of their permanent rank, not with those of the rank in which they have acting status.
- (c) For scheduling purposes, if one or more employees make requests, the employees with the most departmental seniority shall be granted the requests if such employees are qualified.

ARTICLE VIII

JOB OPENINGS ADVANCEMENT TRANSFER AND LAY-OFFS

SECTION 8.1 Job Posting and Bidding

Whenever the City desires to fill a job opening, other than a temporary opening, in any existing job classification or as the result of the development or establishment of new job classifications, a notice of such openings shall be posted on all bulletin boards for ten (10) working days. During this period, employees who wish to apply for this open position or job may do so. The application shall be in writing and submitted to the proper Division Commander.

It is agreed that testing of applicants may be a prerequisite to some job openings. A passing grade is required and will be considered as a part of the applicant's qualifications. The City shall consider departmental seniority together with qualifications in selecting the applicant for the job opening. At the conclusion of the testing process, the

10

Union

City shall prepare a rank order list and privately notify each applicant of their respective rank. The City shall also post a limited rank order list identifying the most highly ranked applicants as determined by the Chief. The number of listed applicants shall be determined by the Chief based on the number of potential openings over the term of the list.

Although the opportunity is provided by the Labor Council and Management under this Agreement for promotions and transfers, the employee has the responsibility of bidding only for those jobs that the employee considers himself or herself to be qualified and those jobs which the employee truly desires.

SECTION 8.2 Filling a Position

The City shall fill the job openings with the applicant whose overall potential is best for providing services to citizens. When filling job opening, department seniority will be used as a tie-breaker when other qualifications are equal.

Temporary job openings may be filled by Employer assignment or reassignment based upon departmental seniority and qualifications.

SECTION 8.3 Temporary Positions

Temporary job openings may be considered as training assignments by which an employee may obtain experience that will enable him to qualify for future promotions.

Temporary assignments include but are not limited to assignments to detached units and assignment to the Mayor's detail.

If the Chief determines that there is a need to temporarily appoint an Acting Sergeant, then the employee then occupying the highest position on the Eligibility List then in effect shall be selected for the appointment. If such employee is unable to serve, then the person having the next highest position on the Eligibility List shall be selected. This procedure shall be utilized until the temporary opening is filled.

SECTION 8.4 Working Out of Classification Pay

Each employee who is temporarily required to perform the duties of a higher paying position classification for a minimum of (8) consecutive hours or more shall receive Temporary Assignment Pay for each hour of work performed in the higher paying position classification. Such pay shall be equal to the greater of either five percent (5%) of the employee's hourly base salary rate or the difference between the employee's hourly base salary rate and the minimum hourly base salary rate for the higher paying position classification.

SECTION 8.5 Lay Offs and Recall:

In the event it becomes necessary to lay off employees for any reason, employees shall be laid off in the inverse order of their departmental seniority.

M D Union

Employees shall be recalled from lay off according to their departmental seniority. No new employees shall be hired until all employees on lay off status, desiring to return to work, have been recalled.

The City will not layoff bargaining unit employees during the period from January 1, 2016 through and including December 31, 2019.

The City will not outsource work currently performed by existing bargaining unit employees. However, nothing herein shall preclude the City from reducing the workforce by attrition, or subcontracting bargaining unit work to:

- 1. Supplement work performed by bargaining unit employees, or
- 2. During emergency or unforeseen circumstances.

ARTICLE IX

DUES CHECKOFF AND FAIR SHARE

SECTION 9.1 Dues Checkoff

All employees covered by this Agreement, will within thirty (30) days of their employment by the Employer, or thirty (30) days from the date the Labor Council was certified as the exclusive bargaining representative by the Illinois State Labor Relations Board, either (1) become voluntary, dues paying members of the Labor Council, and voluntarily pay to the Labor Council all required dues and fees; or, opt not to become voluntary, dues paying members of the Labor Council and be "non-members".

With respect to any employee from whom the Employer receives a voluntary, written authorization, signed by the employee, in a form agreed upon by the Labor Council and the Employer (attached hereto as APPENDIX "D"), the Employer shall deduct from the wages of the employees the monthly dues and initiation fee (if any) required as a condition of membership in the Labor Council and shall forward such amount directly to the Labor Council, at an address provided by the Labor Council, within fifteen (15) calendar days after close of the pay period for which the deductions are made. The amount of dues to be deducted shall be set by the Labor Council.

SECTION 9.2 Religion Exemption:

Employees who are members of a church or religious body having a bona fide religious tenet or teaching which prohibits the payment of dues or fees to a Labor Council, as determined by a neutral arbitrator, shall be required to pay an amount equal to the Labor Council dues, as described in Section 9.1 to a non-religious charitable organization mutually agreed upon by the Labor Council and the affected employees as set forth in Section 6(g) of the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act.

M M

SECTION 9.3 Indemnification

The Labor Council shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability that may arise out of or by reason of any action taken by the Employer for the purpose of complying with any provisions of this Agreement. If an incorrect deduction is made, the Labor Council shall refund any such amount directly to the involved employee.

ARTICLE X

TRAINING AND EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE

SECTION 10.1 General

The City shall make every possible effort to provide opportunities for in-service training with the objective of furthering the qualifications of employees. The Labor Council in turn, agrees that it shall be the responsibility of the employees to take advantage of the training.

SECTION 10.2 Compensation

The City agrees to compensate all employees of the Police Department at time and one-half rate for all training, schools and courses which any such employee is required to attend during off duty hours except for basic police training. Travel time to and from said schooling and/or training outside the corporate limits of the City of Joliet shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half, except for marksmanship training undertaken at the City's weapons range, and for recruits undergoing basic police training.

SECTION 10.3 This Section Is Intentionally Blank

SECTION 10.4 Reimbursement Assistance

The City shall reimburse all employees for the full expense of books and fees. The City shall also reimburse all eligible employees for tuition expenses up to a maximum of \$705.00 per credit hour incurred as a result of participating in voluntary academic, educational, training, and/or vocational course work, and \$710.00 per credit hour for Master Degree courses, provided that:

- (a) The course work is directly related to the employee's professional development, in pursuit of current police duties.
- (b) The course work is approved in advance by the Police Chief, the City Manager or their designated representatives.
- (c) The employee maintains a minimum evaluation of "C" or its equivalent (Pass) in each course for which related reimbursement is sought.





- (d) The expenses incurred are properly documented by voucher or other supportive documents.
- (e) The expenses incurred are not reimbursable through other sources available to the employee, e.g. Federal and State Veteran's benefits, etc.
- (f) That the course work is part of a school's program approved by the City leading to an Associate's, Bachelor's or Master's Degree.
- (g) That the individual has been admitted to the school, with a prescribed course of studies leading to an Associate's, Bachelor's or Master's Degree only.
- (h) In the event that an employee commences an Associate's, Bachelor's or Master's Degree program after May 23, 2006 and the employee voluntarily leaves the service of the City within 24 months of completing coursework for which the City has made reimbursement, the employee shall repay the reimbursement assistance to the City, pro rata. This provision does not apply to employees who resign from the Police Department for the purpose of accepting employment within another City of Joliet Department. This repayment may be deducted by the City from a separating employee's final paycheck.

ARTICLE XI

LEAVES OF ABSENCE

SECTION 11.1 Sick Leave

- (a) All full time employees with less than ten (10) years of service shall receive eight (8) hours with pay per month of continuous service credited to their sick leave accumulation records. All full time employees with ten (10) years of service but less than fifteen (15) years of service shall receive ten (10) hours with pay per month credited to their sick leave Accumulation records. All full time employees with fifteen (15) or more years of service with the City shall earn twelve (12) hours of sick leave with pay per month credited to their sick leave accumulation records. The aforementioned accrual rates shall be up to 1,012 hours; thereafter accrual shall be at eight (8) hours per month for each employee regardless of years of service. Temporary and seasonal employees do not accumulate sick leave credit. There shall be no ceiling nor limit placed on sick leave credits earned.
- (b) Sick leave credit may be used for illness, injury, or off the job incurred disability. One (1) day of sick leave credit with pay shall be deducted from employee's sick leave accumulation record for each duty day not worked due to illness, injury or off the job incurred disability. If a holiday occurs during a period when an employee is on authorized sick leave absence, the employee shall receive pay for the holiday and the holiday will not be deducted from the employee's sick leave accumulation record. Sick leave is an earned benefit which can only be authorized by the department head or acting department head and the City Manager.



- (c) A physician's statement may be required of any employee before sick leave pay, is given if the employee uses more than three (3) consecutive work days, or unless a pattern of abuse has been established, or the City has just cause to believe an employee is abusing sick leave use. Such statements will give reasons for the employee's inability to perform his duties and will become a part of the employee's personnel record. Physician statements may be used as the basis for having an employee's physical health evaluated to determine his ability to continue the performance of duties and responsibilities.
- (d) The City, or its appropriate insurance carrier, acting as designated legal agent for the City, shall have the right to request a separate medical evaluation and/or opinion, from a specialist, if necessary, concerning the status of an employee's ability to return to duty, when incapacitated in accordance with this Article. The City and/or its agent shall bear any and all costs of such inquiry. If the evaluation and/or opinions of the employee's and the City's physicians are contradictory and/or inconclusive, either party shall have the right to request a third separate medical evaluation and/or opinion from a physician who shall be an appropriate specialist. but not in practice with either physician rendering the previous evaluations and/or The City shall bear any and all-related costs. If both parties request a third medical evaluation and/or opinion, the third physician shall be selected by the previous attending physicians, as outlined above, and the costs shall be borne equally by the City and the employee. When appropriate, reference shall be made in all cases to physicians approved by the respective Pension Boards. Both the City and the employee shall abide by the majority medical evaluations and/or opinions. Such evaluation and/or opinions may be required of the employee by the City and/or its agent monthly, while an employee is in such status.
- (e) An employee who becomes ill, injured or disabled shall report to his supervisor as soon as possible. In cases of an on-the-job injury, illness or disability to a full-time law enforcement officer covered by this Agreement, the City will pay the employee's regular salary/wages and benefits for a period of not more than twelve (12) months from the date of the illness or injury. Time lost as pertains to this Section shall not be deducted from the employee's accrued benefits (i.e. compensatory time, vacation time, holiday time, etc.); except in cases beyond twelve (12) months, when an employee desires to continue receiving such pay differential, it shall be deducted at the rate of one (1) hour for each three (3) working hours the employee is absent due to such status.

The City may require periodic medical examination to determine the degree of disability, at the City's expense. Other stipulations, qualifications and requirements of the *Public Employee Disability Act*, 5 ILCS 354/0.01 et seq. shall apply.

(f) Any employee who shall retire from the City and who shall qualify, based upon a minimum of twenty (20) years departmental service, for a regular pension upon reaching the age of fifty (50) years, shall be entitled to a lump sum payment equal to forty percent (40%) of his accumulated but unused sick leave credit, up to a maximum of one thousand twelve (1,012) hours, i.e. a maximum total of four hundred five (405) hours multiplied by the employee's hourly wage. For purposes

15

- of this Section, the hourly wage shall be calculated by dividing the sum of the employee's annual salary, longevity pay and educational incentive pay by 2,080.
- (g) Dependent survivors of a deceased employee shall be eligible to receive a lump sum payment equal to forty percent (40%) of the employee's accumulated but unused sick leave credit up to a maximum of 1,012 hours, factored by the employee's hourly wage if
 - (1) The death was not in the line of duty, but the employee was vested for retirement benefits, according to the Police Pension Board; or;
 - (2) The death occurred in the line of duty, regardless of the employee's service length.
- (h) Each employee who is temporarily disabled and is expected to return to work, and who has exhausted his or her entire accrued Sick Leave balance may receive donations of accrued Compensatory Time from other employees. Such donated Compensatory Time may be used by the temporarily disabled employee in lieu of being placed on an Unpaid Disability Leave and may not exceed 240 hours.

SECTION 11.2 Maternity and Paternity Leave of Absence

- (a) Maternity leave is hereby defined as time off without pay, granted to a full time, non-probationary, certified female employee due to pregnancy. Said leave shall only be granted, if the employee does not elect to use accumulated sick leave or accumulated benefits have been exhausted.
- (b) In order for any employee to request maternity leave, said employee shall notify her department head in writing at least two (2) months prior to the date when the maternity leave is to commence, if practicable and shall include in said written notice the length of time for which the maternity leave is desired. Both the commencement and termination of leave dates should be based upon a statement of the employee's physician as to the dates, not later than which, the employee, for her own health and safety, as well as the baby's should both cease work and be able to return thereto. Such statement shall be attached to the employee's letter requesting maternity leave.
- (c) Maternity leave may be granted without pay for a maximum of one (1) year per pregnancy, upon written request from the employee.
- (d) An employee returning from maternity leave shall be assigned to a position for which she is qualified and for which a vacancy exists, except that any employee whose maternity leave has been less than three (3) months in duration shall be returned immediately to the position held by such employee on the date maternity leave commenced.
- (e) Each male employee, whose spouse has given birth, will be allowed to use accumulated Compensatory Time or Vacation Leave in lieu of reporting for work



on any scheduled work day after the release from the hospital of the mother for up to three (3) calendar days.

SECTION 11.3 Military Training Leave

A full time certified employee of the Police Department who is a member of a reserve unit of the Armed Forces of the United States, in addition to his or her vacation, will be granted leave for two (2) weeks for annual training sessions or schools, provided that twenty (20) days notice is given to his immediate superior or watch commander. In the event that compensation received by the employee while on military training leave is less than the employee would have earned for that period from his position in the City, then the City will compensate the employee for the difference, provided that the employee presents evidence of his compensation received from the Armed Forces while on Military Training Leave. For the purposes of this Section, it is understood that the City will calculate the difference in salary by dividing the employee's bi-weekly paycheck by ten (10) days even though the employee's military pay is based on fourteen (14) days pay.

SECTION 11.4 Training Leave

Employees may be granted leave with pay and expenses to attend professional meetings, training institutes and conferences at the discretion of the City Manager.

SECTION 11.5 Emergency Leaves

If a serious or unexpected emergency occurs to an employee's spouse or children, or a member of the immediate family in the employee's household, or emergency to the employee's domicile, the employee will be allowed to leave duty while the emergency exists. The employee must make arrangements to return to duty on the next day if the emergency continues beyond the duty day when the said emergency occurred, unless the employee received prior consent from the Chief of Police, or acting Chief or Officer in charge of the department in the absence of the Chief.

SECTION 11.6 Family Death Leave

A maximum of four (4) days leave with pay, dependent on funeral arrangements and travel requirements, may be granted to an employee of the Police Department in the event of a death in the immediate family. The immediate family will include only:

- (a) Spouse, children and spouse of children;
- (b) Parents of both employee and spouse;
- (c) Step parent and foster parents of employee and spouse;
- (d) Brothers and Sisters of employee and his spouse;
- (e) Grandchildren and grandparents of employee and spouse.



SECTION 11.7 Failure to Return After Leave

An employee who fails to return to his or her position without notice at the time specified on the employee's application for leave which has been granted under the provisions of this Article, shall be considered to have resigned unless the employee gives evidence of extenuating circumstances to the Board of Fire and Police Commissioners.

SECTION 11.8 Personal Leave

- (a) Employees may draw a maximum of three (3) personal leave days each calendar year from accrued but unused Sick leave. Personal Leave does not accumulate, nor may it be carried over from year to year.
- (b) Personal Leave may be taken at the employee's discretion subject to:
 - (1) Notification of intent to take such by the employee at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance, and;
 - (2) Approval by the Chief of Police, or his designated representative. Such approval shall only be withheld for operational reasons.

SECTION 11.9 FOP Time Off

The City shall, at the request of the Bargaining Unit Chairman, grant eighty (80) hours paid leave per year, and the bargaining unit members shall donate three (3) hours of paid sick leave time per year into a bargaining unit compensatory time pool, for use by employees who are selected as a delegate(s) for a specific activity for/or on behalf of the Illinois FOP Labor Council or the Fraternal Order of Police. Requests for use of such paid leaves time shall not be unreasonably denied or withheld and may be extended at the option of the City Manager. Seniority shall accumulate during such leaves of absence.

The members of the Bargaining Committee shall be allowed two (2) hours off at straight time, one time per month for regularly scheduled FOP meetings, if the individual is scheduled to work.

SECTION 11.10 Thirty (30) Day Special Leave

A leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days may be granted to an employee on showing good cause and with the approval of both the Police Chief and the City Manager. The employee shall not accumulate seniority, sick leave, vacation time or any other benefits during the leave. If the employee desires to remain enrolled in the City insurance programs and contribute towards the employee's pension, the employee must make arrangements to pay the necessary insurance premiums to the City and/or pay the required employee pension contribution attributable to the period of absence.



ARTICLE XII

WORK HOURS

SECTION 12.1 Normal Work Day/Work Week

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, eight (8) consecutive hours shall constitute a regular work day and forty (40) hours a regular work week. Work schedules for the coming work period shall be posted no later than eight (8) days prior to the starting date of the new schedule.

The parties have agreed to implement a 12 hour shift schedule, which includes an agreement regarding filling a reduced workforce. The terms of that agreement are included in Appendix I and incorporated herein.

SECTION 12.2 Overtime Compensation

- (a) Any time worked over the eight (8) hour shift shall be paid for at the rate of time and one-half and double time for holidays.
- (b) An officer will be paid four (4) hours minimum pay at overtime rate if the employee is called out between the time of one (1) hour after his or her scheduled quitting time and four (4) hours before his or her regular starting time, provided that an employee shall be allowed the option of receiving compensatory time in lieu of pay; and such compensatory time shall be accrued at the rate of one and one-half times the time worked. This time and one-half provision does not apply to the time off under the holiday or birthday holiday benefit. An employee shall be allowed to accrue a maximum of sixty (60) days compensatory time, thereafter, any additional accrual of compensatory time shall be subject to approval by the Police Chief. The use of compensatory time must first be approved by the Police Chief before compensatory time shall be taken.
- (c) Each employee may forfeit the use of any or all accumulated Compensatory Time accrued in lieu of taking time off work without pay for disciplinary reasons for up to three (3) work days. Each employee may use any or all accumulated Compensatory Time in lieu of taking time off work without pay for medical reasons after the employee has exhausted all accrued Sick Leave.
- (d) Each employee who is temporarily disabled and is expected to return to work, and who has exhausted his or her entire accrued Sick Leave balance may receive donations of accrued Compensatory Time from other employees. Such donated Compensatory Time may be used by the temporarily disabled employee in lieu of being placed on an Unpaid Disability Leave and may not exceed 240 hours.
- (e) The Police Chief, or the Chiefs representative, and the Union shall meet and confer to discuss how compensatory time will be requested and approved. The results of these discussions will be incorporated into a side letter to this Agreement.

WJV)

- (f) Effective January 1, 2011, Shift Level overtime assignments shall be initially offered to employees on the basis of accumulated overtime hours, using a Shift Overtime List (SOL) for each shift. Each SOL will be established based upon the lowest to highest amount of accumulated overtime (excluding special assignments) worked in the prior calendar year as of January 1, 2011. Thereafter, effective January 1st of each subsequent year, the SOL will be again reset for each shift on the basis of inverse accumulated overtime in the same manner that the initial SOL was prepared.
- (g) When an unanticipated Shift Level overtime vacancy occurs, the Chief shall first attempt to fill the overtime vacancy by offering it to employees on the SOL for the shift where the overtime vacancy exists. The procedure for contacting employees shall be determined by the Chief but the parties anticipate that a mass communication via text message or a similar procedure, with a fixed response window of no more than ten (10) minutes, will be required in order to fill the unanticipated vacancy on a prompt and orderly basis. If one or more employees on the shift in which the vacancy exists offers to fill the vacancy, then the employee with the highest position on the SOL (i.e., the least amount of accumulated overtime as of the prior January 1st) will be assigned to fill the vacancy. In the event no employee on the SOL accepts the overtime, the Chief shall then offer the overtime to all other available employees in the Operations Division, regardless of shift, in the manner currently in practice as of the date of this Agreement. If the overtime vacancy remains unfilled, the first employee with the least amount of seniority on the shift in which the overtime occurred shall be required to fill the vacancy.
- (h) If an Employee changes shifts during the course of the year, the SOL shall be modified to reflect the employee's position on the SOL for the employee's new shift.

SECTION 12.3 Court Time

Court time will include: inquests, pre-trial, liquor hearings and all appearances in any court of law. It is agreed that when an off-duty sworn Police Officer is required to be in court, the Officer will receive compensation and shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours. In the event the Officer is required to be in court in excess of two and one-half hours, he or she shall be paid for an additional two hours at the rate of time and one-half. The employee shall receive pay for the above on the next pay period following his or her appearance in any of the above.

In addition to the foregoing, each employee covered by this Agreement shall receive an annual Court Stipend in the amount of \$1,000 in consideration of the time spent by the employee outside the normal work schedule in preparation for court appearances. For the 2011 contract year, the Court Stipend shall be \$1,000, but \$500 shall be abated. As such, the actual amount of Court Stipend paid to each eligible employee shall be \$500, subject to proration as hereinafter set forth. For the 2012 contract year, the Court Stipend shall be \$2,100, but \$1,100 shall be abated. As such, the actual amount of Court Stipend paid to each eligible employee shall be \$1,000, subject to proration as hereinafter set forth. In the event that this Agreement remains in effect after December 31, 2012, then the temporary abatement of the Court Stipend shall be deemed terminated and the amount of the annual Court Stipend shall be \$2,100.

WOV)

Newly hired employees shall receive the Court Stipend pro-rated on a monthly basis. For example, an employee commencing compensable service on May 1, 2010 shall receive a Court Stipend of \$666.67 for that year, which shall be paid as a part of regular payroll within a reasonable time after commencing service.

The Court Stipend shall be paid as part of a regular payroll in January of each year. The City and the Union acknowledge that the Court Stipend is considered "salary attached to rank" for the purposes of the *Pension Code*.

SECTION 12.4 Training Pay

All assigned schooling and/or training on off-duty time will be paid at the rate of time and one-half.

SECTION 12.5 Call-Out Pay

Employees called out after completing their work day shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours or all such work performed, whichever is greater, at the rate of time and one-half. This Section shall not apply to any court calls, which are solely governed by Section 12.3 of this Agreement.

SECTION 12.6 Changes to Posted Shift Schedule

- (a) The work schedule, determining the starting time, and the days off of each Police Officer shall be made by the Chief of Police or the Chiefs authorized representative, and may be changed from time to time to suit varying conditions, provided, however, that indiscriminate changes shall not be made in such schedules and provided further, that changes deemed necessary shall be made known to the employee at least five (5) working days prior to such change, except when there is mutual agreement between the employee and the Chief, or where the Chief believes there is an emergency situation.
- (b) For the purpose of this Section, an emergency situation shall be defined as a sudden unexpected happening, an unforeseen occurrence or condition, a specifically perplexing contingency or complication of circumstances, or a condition of insufficiency of services.
- (c) If an employee's duty hours or days off are changed other than as provided for in sub-section (a) of this Section, the employee shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's base hourly wage only for those hours worked which were not originally scheduled for that employee but which were worked within the five (5) day required notification of change period. These provisions shall not apply in those cases when such changes originate as the result of a request for change from an employee represented by the bargaining unit.
- (d) When regular shift changes occur, any employee who is not given at least eight (8) hours off between the end of one tour of duty and the beginning of another tour of duty, shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1½ times the employee's base hourly wage for those hours worked within the eight hour period. This





- provision shall not apply in those cases when such changes originate as the result of a request for change from an employee represented by the bargaining unit.
- (e) Should it be necessary to adjust shift cycles from the present practice of fifty six (56) calendar days, the City shall explain the reasons for such change with the Bargaining Committee prior to the implementation.
- (f) Employees may switch shifts once per shift cycle for up to sixty (60) days (or the end of the shift cycle, whichever is sooner) upon reasonable advance written notice to the Chief.

SECTION 12.7 Field Training Officers

Effective January 1, 2006, employees assigned by the Chief to serve as Field Training Officers shall receive two (2) hours of pay at the employee's overtime rate for each shift that the employee actually serves as a training officer.

SECTION 12.8 Sub-Station Assignments

If an employee believes that the Chiefs assignment to a substation is not fairly related to the operations of the Department, the employee can meet with the Chief to discuss the basis of the assignment. If the employee is not satisfied with the Chiefs explanation of the basis for the assignment, the employee can meet with the City Manager to discuss the assignment. A substation assignment decision made by the Chief or the City Manager is not grievable.

SECTION 12.9 Travel Time

Unless otherwise expressly and specifically stated in this Agreement, travel time to and from an employee's residence and the location the employee is required to report for duty shall not be compensable or counted as hours actually worked for any purpose under this Agreement.





ARTICLE XIII

HOLIDAYS

SECTION 13.1 Recognized Holidays

Effective January 1, 2011, for the purpose of this Agreement, the recognized holidays shall be as determined by the City's corporate authorities (other than the employee's birthday holiday). The currently designated holidays are:

New Year's Day

Martin Luther King's Birthday

Memorial Day Labor Day

Veteran's Day

veteran's Day

Presidents Day

Good Friday

Independence Day

Columbus Day

General Election Day (IL House of Reps.)

Thanksgiving Day

Christmas Day

Employee's Birthday

SECTION 13.2 Holiday Compensation

Should any of these holidays fall while the employee is on vacation or during his or her scheduled days off, the employee shall receive an additional day off.

If the employee is scheduled to work on the holiday, the employee shall be paid at the rate of double time the rank pay.

Employees called out or held over to work a holiday, who are not scheduled to work on a holiday, shall be paid double time in addition to the regular holiday pay. All payments are to be figured at the current rate of pay.

Section 13.3 Holiday Stipend

Effective January 1, 2022, except as otherwise provided for in this section, holidays shall not be recognized for any purpose, including, but not limited to, earning premium pay, earning compensatory time or any other provisions associated with holidays prior to January 1, 2022. In lieu thereof, each member shall receive a Holiday Stipend and four (4) Floating Off-Duty Days.

In 2022, each employee covered by this Agreement shall receive a Holiday Stipend as laid out in Appendix J.



ARTICLE XIV

WAGES

SECTION 14.1 Annual Base Salary

Each employee covered by this Agreement shall receive an annual base salary as specified in the Salary Table attached to this Agreement as Appendix F.

SECTION 14.2 Payment for Meals

Payment of or provisions for meals will be given to employees after working twelve (12) continuous hours, or after eight (8) hours of call back time.

SECTION 14.3 Pay Step Advancement

Effective January 1, 2005, each employee covered by this agreement shall advance through the pay steps as follows:

PAY STEP ADVANCEMENT				
From To Step Step		<u>Term</u>	<u>Action</u>	
Α	В	At Least 1 Year	Merit	
В	С	1 Year	Automatic	
C	D	1 Year	Automatic	
D	E	3 Years	Automatic	

- (a) From the date of hire for a period of at least one (1) year, the employee shall be compensated at Step A.
- (b) One (1) year after the date of hire each employee shall be advanced to Step B pending receipt of a satisfactory Performance Evaluation by the Chief of Police. Any employee not receiving a satisfactory Performance Evaluation shall be reevaluated a minimum of one (1) time every six (6) months until the employee receives a satisfactory Performance Evaluation.
- (c) One (1) year after advancing to Step B, the employee shall be automatically advanced to Step C.
- (d) One (1) year after advancing to Step C, the employee shall be automatically advanced to Step D.
- (e) Three (3) years after advancing to Step D, the employee shall be automatically advanced to Step E.





SECTION 14.4 Patrol Officer and Master Patrol Officer

The job classification of Master Patrol Officer (Appendix A) and Patrol Officer (Appendix B) attached, shall be as approved by the City Council.

The job classification of Master Patrol Officer (MPO) shall include all Patrol Officer (PO) personnel assigned to duties such as Detective/Investigator, Evidence Officer/Technician, JNU, MANS, CPAT, NRT, Canine Officer, and Tri-County Auto Theft and other personnel that may be from time to time assigned to similar and/or related duties by the Chief of Police or the Chiefs designated representative. All such personnel shall be paid the established MPO scale. Temporary MPO appointment shall not exceed sixty (60) calendar days, in any calendar year, except when necessary for emergency and/or special on-going police operations including clandestine activities/investigations, and/or specially funded programs for their duration.

Employees completing service in specialized units such as JNU, MANS, CPAT, NRT, Canine Officer, or the Tri-County Auto Theft shall be reassigned to the Patrol Division.

However, the foregoing requirement does not apply to any employee serving in such specialized units as of May 23, 2006. Such employees shall return to the assignment held by the employee immediately prior to their assignment to such specialized units.

SECTION 14.5 Automatic Advancement to Master Patrol Officer

- (a) Effective January 1, 2005, any bargaining unit employee who has reached the 9th anniversary date of his or her employment as a sworn Joliet Police Officer shall be considered a Master Patrol Officer (MPO) and shall be compensated in accordance with the Salary table attached as Appendix F.
- (b) Beginning January 1, 2005, the annual base salary of a MPO with three complete years of service as a MPO shall be as specified in the Salary Table attached as Appendix F.
- (c) Employees serving as a MPO by assignment of the Police Chief shall receive time in grade credit for service as an MPO, provided the employee serves a minimum of one year as an MPO by assignment. No other assignment shall be eligible for the foregoing benefit. If the employee serves less than one year as an MPO by assignment, then no time in grade credit shall be given to the employee. The time in grade credit shall be used solely for the purposes of this sub-section and for no other benefit. The time in grade credit for MPOs by assignment established in this sub-section shall only be available for employees assigned on or after January 1, 1999 and time in grade will begin accumulating as of January 1, 1999. No time in grade credit will be given to MPOs by assignment for service prior to January 1, 1999.

SECTION 14.6 K-9 Officer

Effective January 1, 2000, the City shall pay each K-9 Officer the sum of \$150.00 per month. In addition, each K-9 Officer shall be granted one half (1/2) hour per day and

W D

one additional hour per month Compensatory Time for the time the officer spends with the care and maintenance of the animal.

SECTION 14.7 Special Assignment Pay

- (a) Each employee covered by this Agreement who works a Special Assignment Job shall receive a rate of pay determined by dividing the top annual base salary of a bargaining unit Patrol Officer position effective January 1, 1998 by 2080 hours (\$24.51). This rate may be increased to the current hourly rate upon 90 days written notice by the Labor Council to the City.
- (b) Employees working a Special Assignment Job shall be covered by the City's Workers' Compensation program and Police Liability Insurance.
- (c) The City shall charge an administrative fee to the user of a Special Assignment Job employee which shall be determined annually by the City Manager. The City Manager shall inform the Bargaining Committee of the amount of the administrative fee sixty (60) days prior to change in order to allow for comments. The City and the Labor Council agree and acknowledge that Special Assignment Pay is owed by the private party requesting the service and not the City. The City's sole role in special assignments is to facilitate payment of Special Assignment pay to employees for the sole benefit of the employees. The Labor Council and the employees agree that hours worked on Special Assignment Jobs are not compensable by the City under FLSA.

SECTION 14.8 Pick Up and Payment of Employee Pension Contribution

The City shall pick up and pay to the Joliet Police Pension Fund (the Fund), on behalf of each Employee covered by this Agreement; an amount equal to the police officer contribution required by Section 3-125.1 of the *Illinois Pension Code* (40 ILCS 5/3-125.1), as amended, which as of the effective date of this agreement is 9.91% of salary. It is understood that this pick up and payment to the Fund consists of the amount assessed against each such Employee under the provisions of the Fund and shall be considered to be a payment of salary under Section 1. Such amounts picked up and paid to the Fund will be treated as employer contributions for income tax purposes pursuant to 26 USC Section 414(h). The City shall not be required by this paragraph to pick up and pay any additional amounts to the Fund.

The Labor Council agrees that the City's pick up and payment of contributions to the Fund is solely for the purpose of making such contributions, which otherwise would be made by the Employee, nontaxable for income tax purposes and shall not be considered as reducing the salaries paid to the Employees in accordance with Section 1 hereof. The Labor Council shall hold the City harmless and indemnify the City against any and all liabilities, losses, and expenses of whatever nature arising out of the City's agreement to pick up and make payments to the Fund in accordance with this Section.

MJV)

ARTICLE XV

GENERAL CONDUCT

SECTION 15.1 Conduct and Discipline

As a member of the public service, a public employee shall conduct himself or herself, both on and off the job, in a manner so as to bring credit upon the service and shall abide by all Rules and Regulations of the City of Joliet, Board of Fire and Police Commissioners, State of Illinois and United States of America.

SECTION 15.2 Bill of Rights

The City agrees to afford the protection of the *Uniformed Peace Officer's Disciplinary Act* (50 ILCS 725/1 et seq.) to all Officers covered by this Agreement. Whenever any Officer is subject to questioning as part of an investigatory procedure, the employee may exercise their rights as provided by *N.L.R.B. vs. Weingarten*, 420 U.S. 251 (1975) and *Morgan vs. Central Management Services and Corrections*, 1 PERI Y2020 (ISLRB 1985).

SECTION 15.3 Non-Disclosure

No Officer shall be required to disclose any item of personal property, income, assets, source of income, debt, personal or domestic expenditures (including those of family or household members) except as may relate to a conflict of interest in secondary employment or an obligation of public officials required by State or Federal law; or unless such information is directly necessary in an investigation concerning the performance of the Officer's official duties.

No photo of an Officer under investigation shall be made available to the media prior to a conviction for criminal offense or a decision rendered by the BOFPC or an arbitrator relative to disciplinary action.

SECTION 15.4 Operations Manual

Copies of changes to the Operations Manual will be provided to the Bargaining Committee in addition to other distribution.

ARTICLE XVI

SAFETY AND HEALTH

SECTION 16.1 Safety Conditions

Both parties to this Agreement hold themselves responsible for mutually cooperative enforcement of safety rules and regulations. Should an employee complain that his work requires the employee to be in an unsafe or unhealthy situation, in violation of acceptable safety rules, the matter shall be adjusted immediately by the City Manager

MY

or an authorized representative. If the matter is not adjusted satisfactorily, the grievance may be processed according to the grievance section of this Agreement.

SECTION 16.2 Joint Safety Committee

The parties to this Agreement shall establish a five (5) member Joint Safety Committee consisting of at least one (1) representative of Bargaining Committee for purposes of promulgating a written safety code and for reviewing and discussing former accidents or injuries with the intent of Improving the health and safety condition of the City of Joliet service. Both parties agree to enforce such code.

<u>ARTICLE XVII</u>

BULLETIN BOARDS

The City will furnish and maintain a bulletin board which may be used by the Labor Council for posting notices signed by an accredited Labor Council official and/or by the City. No political or personal matters shall be displayed thereon. Notices shall be subject to the approval of the City Manager.

ARTICLE XVIII

VACATION

SECTION 18.1 Vacation Accrual

Each employee shall accrue Vacation Leave on a monthly basis as follows, based upon their City seniority.

<u>CITY SERVICE</u>	MONTHLY ACCRUAL	ANNUAL ACCRUAL	
Hire Date to 5th Anniversary	0.83 work days	10 work days	
5th Anniversary to 12th Anniversary	1.25 work days	15 work days	
12th Anniversary to 20th Anniversary	1.67 work days	20 work days	
After 20th anniversary	2.08 work days	25 work days	

SECTION 18.2 Forfeiture

On December 31st of each year, each employee will be required to have reduced the employee's Vacation Leave holdover to no more than one and one-half (1½) times the employee's annualized accrual rate. At that time, any vacation accrued in excess of the maximum will be forfeited. Each employee who exceeds the maximum limit on vacation accrual due to operational necessities or the employer and/or proven personal emergencies shall not be required to forfeit the monthly vacation accrual above the maximum limit.

MJ)

SECTION 18.3 Scheduling

Vacations will be scheduled in any calendar year by the Chief of Police or an authorized representative. The previously established rules of seniority governing preference in choosing a particular date for a vacation shall be followed, subject only to the restriction that it does not affect the proper and efficient functioning of the Police Department.

Vacation draws shall be by Departmental seniority as follows:

- (a) First Draw: Annual vacation accrued, through 31 December of the year in which the draw occurs.
- (b) Second Draw: Any carry-over from previous year(s).

SECTION 18.4 Scheduling Exceptions

By virtue of their assignment to specific operations and/or programs in the Department, certain members are not replaced when absent. Those members shall be allowed to waive their contractual right to participate in the vacation draw process and agree instead to schedule their vacation with the Chief of Police or the Chiefs designee. The purpose of this Section is to create greater flexibility in the utilization of vacation leave and provides for more available slots in the Patrol Division yearly vacation draws.

SECTION 18.5 Vacation Pay

Upon termination of employment with the City, employees covered by this Agreement shall receive vacation credit as outlined in this Article by dividing the sum of the employee's annual salary, longevity pay, holiday stipend, and educational incentive pay by 2,080 hours.

ARTICLE XIX

CLOTHING

SECTION 19.1 Uniform and Equipment Supplied

The parties agree that the City of Joliet shall provide all necessary clothing and equipment; also maintenance and repair of said clothing and equipment. Sufficient ammunition shall be provided by the City to all Police personnel for range practices by the City, and the City shall issue all Police personnel service revolvers to be owned and paid for by the City.

The City shall issue to each sworn police officer covered by this agreement a minimum uniform of four pairs of uniform trousers and twelve uniform shirts (Six long and six short sleeve) and two (2) pairs of shoes with other equipment and uniform items.

SECTION 19.2 Plainclothes Allowances

Effective January 1, 2022, each Plainclothes Officer shall receive the sum of \$750.00 per year as an additional stipend.



SECTION 19.3 Body Armor

As part of the uniform and equipment supplied to the employees, the City shall provide each officer with an approved soft body armor vest; and, shall replace the body armor in accordance with the manufacturer's specifications, or as necessary. The "TYPE" of body armor shall be discussed and agreed to between the City and the Bargaining Committee, and more than one choice of manufacturer and/or style shall be provided.

ARTICLE XX

LONGEVITY PAY

SECTION 20.1 Longevity Pay Schedule

Each employee hired prior to December 31, 1982, covered by this Agreement shall receive Longevity Pay on an annual basis as follows:

RANK/PAY STEP	YEARS OF CITY SERVICE				
	5 Years	10 Years	15 Years	20 Years	25 Years
Master Patrol Officer					
Α	\$372	\$742	\$1,115	\$1,487	\$1,987
В	\$410	\$720	\$1,230	\$1,639	\$2,139
C	\$441_	\$882	\$1,323	\$1,764	\$2,264
D/E/F/G	\$474	\$949	\$1,423	\$1,897	\$2,397
Patrol Officer					
Α	\$354	\$708	\$1,062	\$1,416	\$1,916
В	\$390	\$781	\$1,171	\$1,561	\$2,061
С	\$421	\$842	\$1,263	\$1,683	\$2,183
D/E/F/G	\$452	\$903	\$1,355	\$1,807	\$2,307

SECTION 20.2 Eligibility

Each employee hired after December 31, 1982, and before June 30, 1987, will be entitled to Longevity Pay based on the schedule contained in Section 1 of this Article, provided monies are available in accordance with the following:

- (1) The monies needed to fund Longevity Pay for all current employees hired prior to December 31, 1982, will remain frozen at that level throughout the term of this Agreement.
- (2) The employee must meet the time requirements as outlined in Section 1.

Each employee hired after July 1, 1987, shall be entitled to Longevity Pay after 15 and 20 years of continuous service as a Patrol Officer and/or a Master Patrol Officer in the amount of \$1,423 and \$1,897 respectively. (Therefore, the first longevity payment shall not occur until the year 2003.) The applicable amount shall be added



to the eligible employee's annual base rate of pay. Effective January 1, 2000 employees having completed 25 years of service to the City in the Police Department shall receive an additional Longevity Pay of \$500.00 as set forth in the schedules in Section 20.1.

The provisions outlined in this section shall be the one and only longevity payment for all bargaining unit members and shall forever end negotiations of this matter unless the parties mutually agree otherwise.

ARTICLE XXI

GROUP INSURANCE PROGRAM

The parties agree that healthcare shall remain status quo for all Employees, Retirees, Retiree Spouses and family coverage under the current Group Health Insurance Benefits Plan and shall remain unchanged through December 31, 2030. Healthcare shall be considered a permissive subject of bargaining until December 31, 2030. Therefore, the City understands that if it should request bargaining prior to December 31, 2030, and the Union declines to discuss this Article, the City shall not be entitled to any further rights to seek modification of this Article.

The only exception to the above paragraph is that if the Cadillac Tax (aka excise tax) under the Affordable Care Act, as amended, is imposed, the Agreement shall be reopened in 2025 if the City is penalized under such tax. The parties agree that only the financial consequences of the tax will be addressed.

SECTION 21.1 Health Benefit Plan for Active Employees:

(a) Plan Structure

The City of Joliet agrees to provide and pay for a modified group medical health insurance program for each permanent, full time employee covered by this Agreement. The program currently consists of a Preferred Provider Organization (PPO), with physician components, provided by Blue Cross/Blue Shield, but the carrier may be changed as conditions warrant, so long as the coverage remains the same.

(b) Group Health Insurance Benefits for Active Employees

The City shall provide group health insurance benefits for each permanent, full-time employee covered by this Agreement, and their dependents, in accordance with the Plan Document ("Plan") currently on file in the Office of the City Clerk, except as may be otherwise expressly set forth herein. A summary of the key health insurance benefits to be provided by the City to eligible active employees is as follows:



SUMMARY OF KEY HEALTH INS	SURANCE BENEFITS FOR ACTIVE EMPLOYEES
U	

General Provisions

·—-	
<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>
Lifetime Maximum for all Benefits	\$3,000,000
Individual Premium	\$50 payroll deduction per pay period (\$1,300 per benefit period) (effective 1/1/2010)
Family Premium	\$50 payroll deduction per pay period (\$1,300 per benefit period) (effective 1/1/2010)
Individual Deductible	
Participating Provider	\$250 per benefit period (effective 1/1/2010)
Non-Participating	\$500 per benefit period (effective 1/1/2010)
Family Deductible Participating Provider Non-Participating	\$500 per benefit period (\$250/person, not to exceed \$500 for entire family) (effective 1/1/2010)

\$1,000 per benefit period (\$500/person, not to exceed \$1,000 for entire family) (effective

\$1,000 per benefit period

\$3,000 per benefit period

Family Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit (does not apply to all services - see Plan	
Document)	
Participating Provider	\$3,000 per benefit period
Non-Participating	\$9,000 per benefit period

Hospital Benefits

<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>
Inpatient Covered Services	
Participating Provider	100% of the Eligible Charge
Non-Participating	70% of the Eligible Charge
Outpatient Covered Services	
Participating Provider	100% of the Eligible Charge
Non-Participating	70% of the Eligible Charge
Hospital Emergency Care	80% of the Eligible Charge

Physician Benefits

<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>
Surgical Covered Services Participating Provider Non-Participating	100% of the Maximum Allowance 70% of the Maximum Allowance
Medical Covered Services Participating Provider Non-Participating	80% of the Maximum Allowance 70% of the Maximum Allowance
Emergency Medical Care when rendered by a Physician	80% of the Maximum Allowance



Individual Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit

Participating Provider

Non-Participating

Document)

(does not apply to all services - see Plan



Prescription Drug Program Benefits		
<u>ltem</u>	Employee Copayment	
Generic Drugs	\$8 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is no generic available) and diabetic supplies	\$15 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is a generic available)	\$35 per prescription	
Home Delivery Prescription L	Drug Program (90 day supply)	
Generic Drugs	\$14 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is no generic available) and Diabetic Supplies	\$28 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is a generic available)	\$68 per prescription	

Dental Benefits	
<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>
Deductible	\$25 per benefit period
Preventative Services	100% of the Usual and Customary (U&C) Fee
Primary Services	100% of the U&C Fee
Major Services	50% of the U&C Fee
Benefit Period Maximum	\$1,000
Orthodontic Services	50% of the U&C Fee
Orthodontics Lifetime Maximum	\$1,000
Passive PPO Plan	Same benefits and limits as above

(d) Group Term Life Insurance Benefits for Active Employees

In addition to the foregoing group health insurance benefits, the City shall also provide, at no charge to the employee, group term life insurance for each active full-time employee, but not their dependents, with a death benefit of \$12,500 payable as directed by the covered employee.

(e) Group Long Term Disability Benefits for Active Employees

In addition, the City shall provide, at no charge to the employee, group long term disability insurance for each active full-time employee.

(f) Working Spouses and Dependents of Active Employees

(1) Primary Coverage Limited

In the event the spouse or a dependent of an active employee enrolled in the City's group health insurance plan is employed on a non part-time basis (defined 36 hours or more per week on average), and the spouse or dependent is eligible for health insurance provided by his or her employer, then the spouse or dependent shall not be insured by the City on a primary basis. Coverage by the City on a secondary basis shall be available, provided the spouse or dependent has enrolled with his or her employer for primary

WM Union

coverage, the spouse or dependent is properly enrolled in the City's Plan and all applicable premiums and copayments are paid as required.

(2) Waiver/Premium Credit

In the event the employer of the employee's spouse or dependent offers health insurance benefits, but does not offer individual coverage to the spouse or dependent on a primary basis for a premium totaling \$1,300 or less per year, then, at the option of the City, the City may elect to either waive the limitation on primary coverage set forth herein or provide the active employee with a credit against premiums due the City in the amount that the third party employer premiums exceed \$1,300 per year. The City may make or modify this election during each annual open enrollment period or at the time the City is informed by the employee that the employee's spouse or dependent has become eligible for employer-provided health insurance as provided below.

(3) Duty of Employee to Notify City of Status of Spouse or Dependent

The City shall provide an annual open enrollment process in which the employee shall be required to provide sufficient information to the City to establish the proper status of a spouse or dependent in order to determine eligibility for benefits and appropriate premiums and copayments under this Section. In addition, employees shall notify the City of a spouse or dependent becoming eligible for employer-provided health insurance within thirty (30) days of such eligibility. The City shall also permit mid-year changes in enrollment status of spouses and dependents due to changes in employment status.

An employee's failure to timely notify the City of a change in the status of a spouse or dependent, or to provide complete and accurate information required by the City pursuant to this Section may constitute just cause for discipline and for the denial or limitation of benefits and for the reimbursement of benefits improperly paid.

(4) <u>Coordination of Benefits-Dependent Children of Parents not</u> Separated or Divorced or of Divorced Parents Having Joint Custody

In the event that a dependent child is covered by more than one health insurance plan, then the plan covering the parent whose birthday falls earlier in the year shall provide primary coverage for the dependent child. If both parents have the same birthday, then the plan that has provided coverage longer shall provide primary coverage.

(5) <u>Coordination of Benefits-Dependent Children of Divorced or</u> Separated Parents

In the event that a dependent child is covered by more than one health insurance plan, then the plan covering the parent with custody of the child shall provide primary coverage and the plan of the spouse of the parent having custody shall provide secondary coverage. The plan of the parent not having custody of the child shall provide the next level of coverage.

M DY) Union

The foregoing notwithstanding, if an order or decree issued by a court of competent jurisdiction provides a different method of coordination of benefits, then such method shall govern and control upon proper notification to the affected plans.

(e) Employee Election to Opt Out of Plan

An active employee may opt out of the City's group health insurance plan at any time upon the submittal of written notice to the Department of Human Resources, or as the City Manager may otherwise direct. An election to opt out shall take effect on the first day of the second complete pay period following the submittal of written notice.

An employee that opts out shall not be required to pay the required premium for the City's group health insurance plan. In addition, an active employee that elects to opt out shall be eligible for an Opt Out Incentive. The amount of the Opt Out Incentive for employees having individual coverage shall be \$100 per pay period. The amount of the Opt Out Incentive for employees having family coverage shall be \$200 per pay period. The Opt Out Incentive shall be paid in conjunction with regular payroll but, to the extent permitted by law, shall not be considered salary for purposes of calculating hourly rates, pension benefits, overtime pay, holiday stipend, sick leave or vacation buyouts. The City may withhold income taxes from the Opt Out Incentive.

An employee who elects to opt out shall not be eligible for City group health insurance benefits after the opt out notice takes effect, whether on a primary, secondary or other basis. An election to opt out shall remain in effect until properly rescinded by the employee. In order to rescind an election to opt out, the employee must file a written notice with the Department of Human Resources that the employee is reenrolling in the City's group health insurance plan for the upcoming benefit period. This notice can only be filed during the annual open enrollment period or upon the occurrence of a midyear Qualifying Change in Status. The Opt Out Incentive shall be terminated at the time the opt out rescission takes effect.

For the purposes of this Section, a Qualifying Change in Status shall mean an event that affects eligibility for coverage in the City Plan, such as marriage, legal separation, divorce, loss of all eligible dependents, gain of eligible dependents, an employee gaining or losing eligibility for coverage in another health insurance plan, loss or gain of Medicare for any reason and coordination of a spouse's open enrollment period.

An Employee having a spouse that is also employed by the City, or that is enrolled on the City's Plan in his or her own right as a City retiree or disabled person, is not eligible for the Opt Out Incentive, unless both the Employee and his or her spouse elect to opt out, in which case neither the Employee nor the spouse shall be entitled to coverage on the City's Plan on a primary, secondary or other basis.

An Employee having a spouse that is also employed by the City shall be required to pay the monthly premium on an individual or family basis as the employee may designate (unless both the Employee and the Employee's spouse elect to opt out as provided above). In addition, if such an employee and his or her City-employed spouse enroll for family coverage, then the City shall provide coverage to the employee, the spouse and their respective dependents on a primary and secondary basis for Hospital

WIJ (

Benefits and Physician Benefits (but not Dental Benefits or Supplemental Vision Benefits).

SECTION 21.2 Health Benefit Plan for Separating Employees (Retirees)

The City shall provide group health insurance benefits for each separating employee covered by this Agreement who, at the time of separation, has a minimum of twenty (20) years of service as a full time City of Joliet police officer. Eligible separating employees shall be entitled to receive Hospital Benefits, Physician Benefits and Prescription Drug Program Benefits, but not Dental Benefits or Vision Benefits, in accordance with the Plan Document currently in effect, except as may be otherwise expressly set forth herein. The City shall bear the costs of these benefits for the separating employee. The separating employee shall bear the costs of these benefits, i.e. pay the monthly premium charges, for eligible dependents.

A summary of the key health insurance benefits to be provided by the City to eligible separating employees is as follows:

SUMMARY OF KEY HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR SEPARATING	EMPLOYEES

General Provisions	
<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>
Lifetime Maximum for all Benefits	\$3,000,000
Premium	\$0 for the separating employee. \$118.20 per month for a spouse under 65, \$59.10 per month for a spouse over 65 (on Medicare) and \$217.68 per month for family coverage
Individual Deductible	
Participating Provider	\$250 per benefit period (effective 1/1/2010)
Non-Participating	\$500 per benefit period (effective 1/1/2010)
Family Deductible Participating Provider Non-Participating	\$500 per benefit period (\$250/person, not to exceed \$500 for entire family) (effective 1/1/2010) \$1,000 per benefit period (\$500/person, not to exceed \$1,000 for entire family) (effective 1/1/2010)
Individual Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit	
(does not apply to all services - see Plan	
Document)	
Participating Provider	\$1,000 per benefit period
Non-Participating	\$3,000 per benefit period
Family Out-of-Pocket Expense Limit	
(does not apply to all services - see Plan	
Document)	
Participating Provider	\$3,000 per benefit period
Non-Participating	\$9,000 per benefit period

Hospital Benefits



City

City

<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>
Inpatient Covered Services	
Participating Provider	100% of the Eligible Charge
Non-Participating	70% of the Eligible Charge
Outpatien Covered Services	
Participating Provider	100% of the Eligible Charge
Non-Participating	70% of the Eligible Charge
Hospital Emergency Care	80% of the Eligible Charge

Physician Benefits		
<u>Item</u>	<u>Benefit</u>	
Surgical Covered Services	"	
Participating Provider	100% of the Maximum Allowance	
Non-Participating	70% of the Maximum Allowance	
Medical Covered Services		
Participating Provider	80% of the Maximum Allowance	
Non-Participating	70% of the Maximum Allowance	
Emergency Medical Care when rendered by a Physician	80% of the Maximum Allowance	
Prescription Drug Program Benefits		
<u>Item</u>	Employee Copayment	
Generic Drugs	\$8 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is no generic available) and diabetic supplies	\$15 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is a generic available)	\$35 per prescription	
Home Delivery Prescription	Drug Program (90 day supply)	
Generic Drugs	\$14 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is no generic available) and Diabetic Supplies	\$28 per prescription	
Brand Name Drugs (for which there is a generic available)	\$68 per prescription	

The parties acknowledge that there currently is pending in the Illinois Appellate Court the case of Marconi et al. v. City of Joliet, No. 3-11-0865. This case involves claim brought by four individual retirees which asserts that the annual deductible, prescription drug co-payments and certain other retiree obligations as described in this Section, as originally implemented on January 1, 2010, violate their rights under Article XIII, Section 5 of the Illinois Constitution.

The City and the Union agree that under the terms of this Agreement, and all predecessor collective bargaining agreements, the City is authorized to require the payment of a premium for retiree dependent coverage based on the full cost of such coverage. The parties further acknowledge that under the terms of this Agreement that the City has agreed to not fully exercise this authority as to those retirees that pay the annual deductible, prescription drug co-payments and certain other retiree obligations required by this Section. Therefore, in the event one or more of the plaintiffs in the Marconi case, or any other retiree, does not pay the annual deductible, prescription drug co-

payments and certain other retiree obligations as described in this Section, then, as to such persons only, the City may fully exercise its contractual authority and may increase the premium charged for coverage of the dependents of the retirees in an amount not to exceed, in total, the full cost of such coverage.

In addition to the foregoing group health insurance benefits, the City shall also provide, at no charge to the employee, group term life insurance for each eligible separating employee, but not their dependents, with a death benefit of \$12,500 payable as directed by the separated employee.

SECTION 21.3 Health Benefit Plan for Disabled Employees

- (a) Permanent Partial Disability. The City of Joliet shall allow each former employee who at the time of separation is receiving a disability pension benefit and is physically or mentally unable to perform the duties of the position which the former employee held at the time of separation, to continue to receive the following group insurance benefits.
 - (1) Hospital, Physician and Prescription Drug Benefits, including eligible dependents, as outlined above. The City shall bear the cost of these benefits for separating employee. The City shall bear the cost of these benefits for the permanent partially disabled employee. The permanent partially disabled employee shall bear the cost of these benefits, i.e., pay the monthly premium charges, for eligible dependents.
 - (2) Group Term Life Insurance in the amount of \$12,500 at the City's expense.
- (b) Permanent Total Disability. The City of Joliet shall allow each former employee who at the time of separation is receiving a disability pension benefit and is physically or mentally unable to work in any occupation for which the employee may qualify, to continue to receive the following group insurance benefits.
 - (1) Hospital, Physician and Prescription Drug Benefits, including eligible dependents, as outlined above.
 - (2) Dental Benefits, including eligible dependents, as outlined above.
 - (3) Group Term Life Insurance in the amount of \$12,500.

SECTION 21.4 Health Benefit Plan for Surviving Spouse

Union

The City shall allow a surviving spouse and eligible dependents of a deceased employee, either active or retired at the time of death, to maintain group health insurance benefits, provided these individuals pay the monthly premium charge for this coverage to the City. This coverage shall cease upon remarriage of the employee's spouse.

If the employee is killed in the line of duty the City shall allow the surviving spouse and eligible dependents to remain in the insurance program and receive benefits as listed

in Section 1 of this Article. The City shall bear the cost of this coverage, provided the individuals are not covered by a compatible plan.

SECTION 21.5 Program Coverage

Payment of any and all benefits described in this Article shall be made solely in accordance with and subject to the terms, conditions and provisions of the program documents which are on file in the office of the City Clerk. Each covered employee shall receive a booklet describing the coverages provided under both the Group Health Insurance, Dental and Long Term Disability plans.

SECTION 21.6 Joint Health Care Review Committee

The Bargaining Committee shall designate one (1) of its members to represent it on the Joint Health Care Review Committee, consisting of one (1) representative from each bargaining unit and designated members of the City Administration. This committee shall meet at least monthly during the term of this contract, in order to determine and establish the most cost beneficial health care program to both the City and its employees.

SECTION 21.7 Other Benefits

(a) Wellness Benefit

Each employee and dependents are eligible to receive reimbursement up to a maximum of \$200.00 per calendar year for treatment or services rendered for eye care, or the \$200.00 reimbursement may be used by the employee for the purpose of participating in a physical fitness program at an accredited college, health club or public gymnasium. However, the allowance of \$200.00 for an Annual Routine Physical Examination, provided under the City's Health Benefit; Plan, shall be forfeited if the employee uses the \$200.00 allowance for eye care or a qualifying physical fitness program.

(b) <u>Survivors</u>

Survivors of an officer killed in the line of duty shall be reimbursed up to \$10,000 for funeral expenses upon presentation of receipts and/or invoices

(c) Supplemental Accident Benefit Repealed

The \$300 Supplemental Accident Coverage benefit is repealed effective October 1, 2009.

(d) <u>Supplemental Vision Benefit</u>

Effective January 1, 2010, in addition to any other benefit provide under this Agreement, each Employee and their dependents shall be eligible for a group vision care benefit with an annual benefit limit of \$150.00 per benefit period for the purchase of prescription vision care products and professional vision care services, including, but not limited to, eye examinations by a licensed ophthalmologist or optician, prescription



eyeglasses, prescription contact lens and vision correction or enhancement surgery by a medical doctor.

Effective January 1, 2022, in addition to the benefits provided for in this Section, at the request of an employee, the City shall pay for one general physical examination of the employee by a medical professional each calendar year. The medical professional, and the time, location and scope of the examination, shall be determined by the City.

ARTICLE XXII

NO STRIKE - NO LOCK OUT

SECTION 22.1 No Strike

It is agreed that during the term of this Agreement, neither the Labor Council, its officers or agents and any employee covered by this Agreement will instigate, promote or engage in any strike, stoppage of work or interfere with City operations.

SECTION 22.2 No Lockout

The City agrees not to lock out any employee covered by this Agreement during the term of the Agreement.

ARTICLE XXIII

DRUG TESTING

SECTION 23.1 Definitions

"Drugs" shall include, but not be limited to, any controlled substance defined in the Illinois Controlled Substances Act (720 ILCS 570/100 et seq.) or the Cannabis Control Act (720 ILCS 550/1 et seq.); and any controlled substance listed in Schedules I through V of 21 U.S.C. 812 for which the person tested does not submit a valid pre-dated prescription. Thus, the term "drugs" includes prescription or over-the-counter medications, illegal drugs and any look-alike substance, designer drugs or any substance which may have adverse effects on perception, judgment, alertness, memory or coordination. "Drugs" shall include any form of cannabis regardless of any Illinois law permitting possession and use of marijuana or cannabis.

SECTION 23.2 Prohibitions

Employees are prohibited from consuming, possessing, purchasing or being under the influence of alcohol or cannabis as defined within 410 ILCS 705, or illegal drugs at any time during the workday or anywhere on the Employer's premises or to report to work under the influence of alcohol except in accordance with duty requirements. Employees are required to report to their supervisor any known side effects of medication or prescription drugs, which they are taking. Employees are prohibited from possessing

Union

selling, using, purchasing or delivering illegal drugs in violation of any State or Federal Statutes.

SECTION 23.3 Type of Testing

Where the Employer has reasonable suspicion to believe that an Employee is under the influence of alcohol during the course of the workday or has used illegal drugs, the Employer shall have the right to require the Employee to submit to alcohol or drug testing.

SECTION 23.4 Order to Take Test

The Employer shall provide the employee, at the time he or she is ordered to submit to testing, with a written notice of the order, setting forth the facts and inferences upon which the Employer bases its conclusion of reasonable suspicion. The employee shall be given a reasonable time, not to exceed one hour, to consult with a union representative and/or counsel prior to any questioning. The City shall only discuss the particulars of the case with the employee and a union representative. Refusal to comply with the order to test may subject the employee to discipline, but the taking of a test shall not operate to waive any objection or rights the employee may have. No employee shall be subject to any adverse employment action, except temporary reassignment or relief from duty with pay during the pendency of any testing procedure. Such reassignment or relief from duty shall be discontinued immediately in the event of negative test results if such reassignment was solely to await the result of a testing procedure.

SECTION 23.5 Specialized Units

All members volunteering for assignment to specialized units shall be subject to drug testing upon their conditional selection to said specialized unit. Specialized units will consist of the Tactical Unit and any multi-jurisdictional unit (e.g., Metropolitan Area Narcotics Squad, Cooperative Police Assistance Team, and the Tri-County Auto Theft Task Force).

SECTION 23.6 Right to Contest

The union and/or the employee shall have the right to contest and/or grieve any aspect of any testing for just cause under this Agreement, including the right to test, the order, the administration of the test, the significance or accuracy of the test, or the consequences of the test results. Nothing herein shall waive or limit any rights employees may have concerning such test that may arise outside this Agreement, which the employee may pursue with or without the union.

<u>SECTION 23.7 Voluntary Requests for Assistance</u>

No adverse employment action shall be taken in any manner or forum against any employee for drug and/or alcohol usage who, prior to a positive result, voluntarily seeks assistance for alcohol or drug related problems, other than the Employer may temporarily reassign an employee if he is then unfit for duty in his current assignment. All such requests shall be held strictly confidential and not released or used in any manner or forum contrary to the employee's interests. Such voluntary requests shall not confer



immunity from discipline for any criminal activity or misconduct attendant to substance abuse.

SECTION 23.8 Department-Wide Random Testing

- (a) All members of the Labor Council shall be subject to random drug testing. Members shall be assigned a permanent number and the selection of those to be tested shall be determined by a random drawing conducted by the Chief of Police and/or Deputy Chief in the presence of a selected Labor Council member. The Chief will be permitted to have four (4) random drawings per year with a maximum of 15% of total membership tested per drawing. No employee shall be subject to more than three (3) random tests per calendar year.
- (b) The Chief, without looking, will select officers for random testing by picking the assigned permanent numbers out of a container. The selection of numbers will be witnessed by a member of the Labor Council chosen by the Executive Board of the Labor Council. After an officer is selected, the testing will proceed as described in this Article.
- (c) A test for the presence of illegal drugs shall also be a part of any medical examination ordered by the City in connection with promotions, recall, or the return to duty after leaves of absence which does not include sick leave, vacation, or on-duty injury. All tests ordered by the City shall be at the expense of the City.
- In all drug testing, whether for just cause or for random, the City shall use only a clinical laboratory or hospital facility that is licensed per the *Illinois Clinical Laboratory Act*, which laboratory shall comply with all NIDA standards. The City shall establish a chain of custody procedure to insure the integrity of samples and test results. Sufficient samples shall be collected so as to permit an initial, a confirmatory test, and an optional subsequent test to be arranged at a facility of the employee's choosing. Confirmatory testing shall be by gas chromatography, plus mass spectrometry (GCMS), or an equivalent or better scientifically accurate test. The cost of an optional subsequent test will be borne by the employee should he or she choose to have such test conducted.
- (e) As to drug testing, the Employer shall only be notified in the event that a sample has tested positive for a particular drug on both the initial and confirmatory test and any information otherwise coming into the possession or knowledge of the Employer resulting from the testing itself (e.g., insurance billings), except for confirmed results, shall not be used in any manner or forum adverse to the employee's interests. As to alcohol testing, test results showing an alcohol concentration of .08 or more (based on grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood) shall be considered positive; the Employer shall bear the burden of proof of establishing that concentrations less than .08 indicated the employee is under the influence



- in violation of this article. The employee shall receive a copy of all test results, information, documents and other reports received by the employer.
- (f) In the first instance an employee tests positive as defined above on a nonprescribed drug or alcohol test, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. The following facts will be given consideration when determining discipline if the employee: (1) participates in an appropriate treatment program, including after care as determined by the physician(s) involved; (2) discontinues illegal use of drugs or abuse of alcohol; and (3) submits to periodic testing at the discretion of the Chief for one (1) additional year after completion of an after-care program. Employees who do not comply with the conditions of this section, or who test positive for the second time, shall be subject to discipline up to and including discharge. Employees who are unfit to perform reasonable duties to which they may be assigned during the period of their treatment and after care shall be permitted to take accumulated time off and shall be afforded a leave of absence up to 12 weeks upon request for the period of counseling and after care, at the option of the employee.

PSYCHOLOGICAL TESTING

SECTION 23.9 Testing Permitted

Psychological testing of an officer shall only be ordered by the Chief of Police. Such testing shall occur only when the Chief has individualized, objective and articulable reasons which constitute just cause to believe that such testing is necessary because the officer's mental status poses a significant threat to health and safety of the officer, coworker's, and the general public.

SECTION 23.10 Testing Notice and Representation

Whenever an officer is to be ordered to undergo any psychological evaluation, interviews, counseling or testing, a full written explanation of all facts and circumstances in support of such order shall be provided to the affected officer at least 72 hours in advance (except in a life threatening emergency) of any evaluation/testing.

SECTION 23.11 Tests Conducted

Any and all evaluations, interviews, counseling or testing shall only be conducted by a licensed, certified psychiatrist, psychologist or other mental health professionals trained and experienced in psychological evaluation/testing and interpretation. Under no circumstances shall the officer by subjected to polygraph examination or to the use of any drugs.

In order to insure the objectivity of the process undertaken, only sufficient information to provide a basis for the testing may be provided to the mental health professional.

MJV)

SECTION 23.12 Results

Test results, including all related interview notes, reports, tapes, etc. shall be held in strictest confidence. The mental health care professional (including the institution itself, where applicable) conducting such function shall not divulge details or characteristics of test results or assessments to the City; that are not related to the employee's job responsibilities. The mental health professional shall base his/her opinion on the officer's ability to perform the essential functions of his/her job; and, only after having been advised in writing by the City of the definition and description of the officer's essential functions.

In the event the officer is deemed unfit for duty, such claim shall be accompanied by a clear opinion as to the specific time period such opinion is valid. The officer shall then have the right to have an independent test/evaluation/assessment, by another, similarly qualified professional, who shall report his/her finding to both the City and the officer. Any dispute concerning such opinions, shall be finally resolved by a third psychological/psychiatric evaluation. Such psychologist/psychiatrist shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties.

The officer, or his authorized agent, shall be supplied with any and all facts which are alleged to support the order to undergo the testing, including the names of complainants, witnesses, reports, statements, and other documents which in any way relate to the basis for the order. Upon completion of the testing and reported assessment of the mental health professional, no aspect of the officer's job shall be modified unless just cause exists.

No suspension, discharge, or other adverse employment action may be taken against the officer except for just cause. However, the affected officer may be relieved from duty without loss of pay or benefits pending such testing and the receipt of the results of such testing. The rights and protections afforded the officer by the Informed Peace Officer's Disciplinary Act, or any other laws, shall not be diminished in any way by this provision and will at all times be applicable.

SECTION 23.13 Compensation and Costs

All testing, interviews, evaluations, etc. required by the Department for which the officer is required to participate shall be considered hours of work for the purposes of pay and worker's compensation liability.

The cost of any and all related testing, interviews, evaluations ordered by the City shall be borne by the City. The cost of counseling will be borne by the employee' however, the employee will be eligible to submit such costs to the City of Joliet health insurance carrier or any other applicable third party carrier. In the event a third evaluation is required, the City will bear the cost.



ARTICLE XXIV

EMPLOYEE SECURITY

SECTION 24.1 Probationary Period

The probationary period for all newly hired police officers shall be for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of hire. The City may, for just cause, extend the probationary period for a period not to exceed six (6) additional months.

SECTION 24.2 Just Cause Standard

Pursuant to Article 2, Section 2.3 of this Agreement no employee covered by the terms of this Agreement shall be suspended, relieved of duty, disciplined in any manner, or discharged without just cause.

SECTION 24.3 Personnel Files

The City's personnel files, disciplinary history and investigative files (except pending investigations) relating to any employee covered by this Agreement shall be maintained in one complete file; and, shall be available for inspection and copying by the employee, or authorized Labor Council representative (IF the employee gives written authorization), during business hours and upon reasonable notification of such request. A Labor Council representative may inspect an employee's personnel file which is maintained by Human Resources if the employee gives written authorization during business hours and upon reasonable notification of such request.

An employee shall be entitled to a copy of any material contained in said files, except information regarding reference checks, responses or information which was provided with the specific request that it remain confidential or other material exempted from the *Personnel Records Review Act*(820 ILCS 40/1 et seq.).

In the event that the employee's files contain material which is adverse to the employee, then said employee shall have the right to have placed in the file a written rebuttal to the adverse material.

Any information of an adverse nature which is unfounded, exonerated or otherwise not sustained shall not be maintained in any file, nor used against any employee in any future proceeding.

Prior suspensions of five (5) days or fewer, shall not be used to aggravate current disciplinary action, provided the prior suspension occurred at least five (5) years prior to the act now giving rise to discipline and provided further, there has been no other discipline of any type within said five (5) year period.

Prior oral or written reprimands shall not be used to aggravate current disciplinary action, provided the prior reprimand occurred at least three (3) years prior to the act now giving rise to discipline and provided further, there has been no other discipline of any type within said three (3) year period.

Union Union

Shift level counseling shall not be used to aggravate current disciplinary action, provided the counseling occurred more than one (1) year prior to the act now giving rise to discipline.

SECTION 24.4 Employee Indemnification

The City shall defend and provide representation to Police Officers sued for actions taken within the scope of their employment and/or authority, where the Officer cooperates with the Employer in defense of the action. The City shall select the legal representative.

SECTION 24.5 Procedures for the Evaluation of Applicants for the Rank of Police Sergeant

(a) General

Except as may be specifically provided in this section, the procedures for promotion of a bargaining unit member to the rank of Police Sergeant shall be in accordance with the promotional rules in effect as of the effective date of this agreement. If such rules are amended during the term of this agreement, the City agrees to bargain in good faith with the Union concerning such amendments of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Fire and Police Commissioners relating to promotions to Police Sergeant and which constitute mandatory subjects of bargaining. Except as may be set forth in this section pertaining to the procedures utilized by the City to evaluate applicants for promotion to the rank of Police Sergeant, the City shall not be required to negotiate with the Union concerning any other term and condition of employment, or any other impact thereon, for any rank above the rank of Police Sergeant.

(b) <u>Police Sergeant</u>

The computation of grade for this promotional appointment shall consist of a weighted grade based upon 60% written examination, 15% seniority and 25% oral technical examination. The oral examination shall precede the written examination. In determining the eligibility register, only the final grade for this promotional appointment shall be considered in arriving at the relative ranking of individuals on an eligibility register. A promotional applicant must achieve a minimum 70% on the written examination and a minimum combined score of 70% on the written examination and the oral examination to be considered eligible for promotional appointment. The final grade shall be determined and comprised of the total weighted scores for the written and oral examinations and seniority.

(c) Rule of One

The Board of Fire and Police Commissioners shall certify and maintain a list of eligible candidates for promotion, by classification and rank, of persons having passed the promotional examinations. Promotional appointments shall be made from the list of eligible candidates in the order of the ranking of the candidates on the eligibility list ("Rule of One").

However, the Board shall be authorized to pass over the highest ranked candidates when it is established that just cause exists that prevents the highest ranked candidate from performing his or her responsibilities if promoted. In such event, the next

MM)

highest ranked candidate shall be promoted. The Board shall be authorized to make a determination whether just cause exists for not promoting the highest ranked candidate. The Board shall base its decision upon commonly accepted precedent as to what establishes just cause. If the Board receives evidence that just cause to pass over a candidate may exist, then the Board shall notify the candidate of such evidence and afford the candidate an opportunity to be fairly and impartially heard and to offer any rebuttal evidence. The Board, in making its determination, shall also be authorized to review all personnel files of the candidate, may request information from the Chief of Police and may request a background investigation to be conducted by the Police Department or any other investigatory agency it may choose. The Board's finding of just cause for denying promotion shall be subject to the grievance procedure contained in this Agreement; however, if a grievance is filed, the grievance shall proceed directly to arbitration and shall not be reviewable at the steps preceding arbitration.

(d) Conflict with Rule of Fire and Police Board

This Article shall prevail and take precedence over any Rule of the Police and Fire Board of Commissioners that is in direct conflict herewith.

SECTION 24.6 Residency

- (a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), residency within the corporate limits of the City of Joliet shall not be a mandatory condition of employment as a law enforcement officer with the City covered by this Agreement. Residency within the corporate limits of the City of Joliet shall not be a mandatory condition of promotion to another rank within the Police Department represented by the Union.
- (b) All persons hired on or after February 16, 2016, shall, as a term and condition of employment, reside within the corporate limits of the City of Joliet (City Limits) within eighteen (18) months of initial employment and shall remain in the City until their twentieth (20th) anniversary. Any employee covered by this paragraph who attains their 20th anniversary shall not thereafter be required to reside within the City Limits.

All existing employees hired prior to February 16, 2016, shall be excluded from this residency requirement. As previously agreed to by the parties (see paragraph (a) above) residency within the corporate limits of the City of Joliet shall not be required for City employees covered by this agreement.

The parties agree that the foregoing residency requirements shall not be subject to renegotiations prior to December 31, 2030.



ARTICLE XXV

TERM AND MODIFICATION

SECTION 25.1 Retroactivity

It is agreed by the parties that all of the terms and conditions of the agreement, including compensation provisions, unless otherwise specified herein, shall be applied effective the date of ratification by both parties, and be considered to have been in full force and effect from that date henceforth. Provided, however, that there shall be no retroactivity for special assignment duty performed prior to the date that this Agreement is duly executed by the parties.

SECTION 25.2 Duration

This agreement shall be in effect until December 31, 2024. It shall continue thereafter in full force and effect from year to year unless written notice is given no later than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date of the agreement. Notice shall be given to the City by delivering the same to the office of the City Manager and notice shall be given to the Labor Council by delivering the same to the Labor Council and the Bargaining Committee. Notice may be delivered personally or by certified mail.

SECTION 25.3 Right to Re-open

During its effective term, the City agrees to permit this agreement to be re-opened by the Labor Council for additional negotiations on wages or major fringe benefits only on account of a wage/fringe package subsequently negotiated with IAFF Local 44.



RATIFICATION

THIS AGREEMENT is made an, 2021	nd entered into this day of
FOR THE LABOR COUNCIL: FOR THE LABOR COUNCIL: FOR THE LABOR COUNCIL:	FOR THE CITY OF JOLIET: City Manager
Bargaining Committee	Chief of Police

M570 Union

APPENDIX A

POLICE MASTER PATROL OFFICER

GENERAL STATEMENT OF DUTIES

Performs general duty police work in protection of life and property, enforcement of laws and investigation of crimes; does related work as required.

DISTINGUISHING FEATURES OF THE CLASS

The work of this class involves responsibility for the protection of life and property, prevention of crime, apprehension of criminals and the general enforcement of laws and ordinances in a designated area on an assigned shift or on special assignments. Duties may consist of routine patrol, preliminary investigation, and traffic regulation which may be performed in cruiser cars or on foot. Police Master Patrol Officers also, may be assigned duties formerly performed by detectives, youth counselors, evidence technicians and/or police dispatchers; however, to be so assigned, personnel must be classified as Police Master Patrol Officers. The work involves an element of personal danger and the employee must be able to act without direct supervision and to exercise independent judgment in meeting emergencies. Assignments may include work at headquarters on special tasks which call upon specialized abilities and knowledge. Work assignments are general and special instructions are received from a superior officer who revise work methods and results through reports, personal inspection and discussion. This is a non-supervisory position.

EXAMPLES OF WORK (Illustrative only)

Patrols City streets, roads and public places, either on foot, by motorcycle or in an automobile, either at large or in a designated area; Directs traffic and enforces speed limits;

Enforces motor vehicle and parking regulations on streets and roads; Investigates automobile accidents, interviewing witnesses, gathering information, locating and identifying hit and run vehicles, making detailed reports;

Investigates cases involving juveniles;

Maintains records on juvenile cases and conducts follow-up investigations, making recommendations on the disposition of cases;

Confers with judge, prosecuting attorneys, school principals, court officials, and other appropriate persons relative to assigned cases;

Assists in the prevention of juvenile delinquency by consulting, interviewing and advising counseling departments of public schools, parents and juveniles;

Investigates school related crimes;

Watches for and makes investigations of wanted or missing persons and property:

MJ/

Operates police radio communication system and dispatches cars where needed and performs other related communication duties;

Detects and interrogates suspicious persons;

Answers calls and complaints involving fire, robberies and other misdemeanors and felonies:

Enforces City ordinances and State and Federal laws;

Ascertains all facts available at the scene of a crime or accident, getting statements of witnesses, gathering and processing evidence and reports to be used in follow up investigations;

Issues citations, makes arrests and takes prisoners to jail;

Assists attorneys in prosecuting felony and misdemeanor cases and testifies in court;

Interviews persons with complaints and inquiries and attempts to make proper disposition or directs them to appropriate authorities;

Gives information and public relations talks to school children and conducts tour groups;

Identifies and arbitrates community conflicts and problems and assists in developing community relations programs;

Conducts follow up investigation of criminal matters;

Prepares records and data for court processing, maintaining discipline in courtroom; Participates in the guidance, training and orientation of Police Cadets;

Attends regular training classes in police methods, first aid, target practice and related subjects.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE'S SKILLS AND ABILITIES

Considerable working knowledge of the street layout and population pattern of the City;-considerable working knowledge of the common laws covering traffic and genera] behavior; ability to react quickly and calmly to emergency police situations; skill in the use and care of firearms and other weapons; ability to drive an automobile safely and efficiently; excellent physical condition.

ACCEPTABLE EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING

Associates Degree in Law Enforcement or related field preferred and ability to meet all requirements prescribed by the City at the time of appointment; at least two years of prior experience as a Police Patrol Officer; or any equivalent combination of experience and training which provides the required knowledge's, skills and abilities.

WJY) Union

APPENDIX B

POLICE PATROL OFFICER

GENERAL STATEMENT OF DUTIES

Performs general duty police work in protection of life and property, enforcement of laws and investigation of crimes; does related work as required.

DISTINGUISHING FEATURES OF THE CLASS

The work of this class involves responsibility for the protection of life and property, prevention of crime, apprehension of criminals and the general enforcement of laws and ordinances in a designated area on an assigned shift or on special assignments. Duties normally consists of routine patrol, preliminary investigation, and traffic regulation which may be performed in cruiser calls or on foot. Police Patrol Officer also may be assigned duties as detectives, youth counselors, Evidence Technicians, jailers or police dispatchers. The work involves an element of personal danger and the employee must be able to act without direct supervision and to exercise independent judgment in meeting emergencies;

Assignments may include work at headquarters on special tasks which call upon specialized abilities and knowledge's. Work assignments are general and special instructions are received from a superior officer who revises work methods and results through reports, personal inspection and discussion.

EXAMPLES OF WORK (Illustrative Only)

Patrols City streets, roads and public places, either on foot, by motorcycle or in an automobile either at large or in a designated area; Directs traffic and enforces speed limits:

Enforces motor vehicle and parking regulations on streets and roads; Investigates automobile accidents, interviewing witnesses, gathering information, locating and identifying hit-and-run vehicles, and making detailed reports; Investigates cases involving juveniles:

Maintains records on juvenile cases and conducts follow up investigations, making recommendations on the disposition of cases; Confers with judge, prosecuting attorneys, school principals, court officials, and other appropriate persons relative to assigned cases; assists in the prevention of juvenile delinquency by consulting, interviewing and advising counseling departments of the public schools, parents and juveniles;

Investigates school related crimes;

Watches for and makes investigations of wanted or missing persons and property; Operates police radio communication system and dispatches care where needed and performs other related radio communication, duties; Detects and interrogates suspicious persons;

Union

Answers calls and complaints involving fire, robberies and other misdemeanors and felonies; Enforces City ordinances and State and federal laws;

Ascertains all facts, available at the scene of a crime or accident, getting statements of witnesses, gathering and processing evidence and preparing reports to be used in follow investigations;

Issues citations, makes arrests and takes prisoners to jail;

Assists attorneys in prosecuting felony and misdemeanor cases and testifies in court; Interviews persons with complaints and inquiries and attempts to make proper disposition or directs them to appropriate authorities; Gives information and public relations talks to school children and conducts tour groups; Identifies and arbitrates community conflicts and problems and assists in developing community relations programs; Conducts follow-up investigation of criminal matters;

Processes prisoners by fingerprinting, photographing, feeding, safeguarding, preparing bond records and data for court processing, maintaining discipline in courtroom; Participates in the guidance, training and orientation of Police Cadets; Attends regular training classes in police methods, first aid, target practice and related subjects.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE'S. SKILLS AND ABILITIES

Some working knowledge of the street layout and population pattern of the City; some working knowledge of the common laws covering traffic and general behavior; ability to react quickly and calmly to emergency police situation; ability to drive an automobile safely and efficiently; excellent physical condition.

ACCEPTABLE EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING

Completion of a standard high school course, preferably supplemented by some college level course work, and meeting the age, weight, height and other physical requirements prescribed by the City at the time of examination; or any equivalent combination of experience and training which provides the required knowledge's, skills and abilities.

W M

APPENDIX C

HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAM

A COPY OF THE PROGRAM IS ON FILE IN THE OFFICE OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER





APPENDIX D

DUES AUTHORIZATION FORM

ILLINOIS FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE LABOR COUNCIL 974 CLOCK TOWER DRIVE SPRINGFIELD, ILLINOIS 62704

l,		, understand that under the U.S.
Constitution I have a right not	to belong to a union. E	By my signature I hereby waive this right
and opt to join the IL FOP Lab	or Council.	
I,		, hereby authorize my employer,
	, to deduc	ct from my wages the uniform amount of
monthly dues set by the Illin	nois Fraternal Order o	of Police Labor Council, for expenses
connected with the cost of ne	gotiating and maintain	ing the collective bargaining agreement
between the parties and to re	emit such dues to the	Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor
Council as it may from time to	time direct. In addition,	I authorize my Employer to deduct from
my wages any back dues ow	ed to the Illinois Frater	rnal Order of Police Labor Council from
the date of my employment, in	such manner as it so	directs.
Date:	Signed:	
	Address:	
	City:	
	State:	Zip:
	Telephone:	
	Personal E-mail:	
Employment Start Date:		
Title:		
Employer, please remit all d		
Limpioyer, piease terms and		

Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council Attn: Accounting 974 Clock Tower Drive Springfield, Illinois 62704 (217) 698-9433

Dues remitted to the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council are not tax deductible as charitable contributions for federal income tax purposes; however, they may be deductible on Schedule A of Form 1040 as a miscellaneous deduction. Please check with your tax preparer regarding deduct

M TV) Union

APPENDIX E

AGREED PERMANENT PANEL OF ARBITRATORS

The following persons, listed in alphabetical order only and in no order of preference or priority, shall constitute the agreed permanent panel of discipline grievance arbitrators:

Edwin Benn

Brian Clauss

Fred Dichter

Thomas F. Gibbons

Daniel Nielson

Brian Reynolds

Richard Stanton

Either party may remove a name from the permanent panel by serving written notice thereof on the other party, provided the removal shall not apply to pending discipline cases in which the Chief has issued a Final Decision as set forth in Article V of this Agreement.

MTD Union

APPENDIX F

SALARY SCHEDULE

			2020 (2	.49%)					
Patrol Officer	3020	54,084	72,301	88,278	92,761	97,397	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	102,269	109,429	N/A
MPO - Assignment	3005	56,788	75,915	92,694	97,397	102,269	107,382	109,429	N/A
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	102,269	107,382	109,429	109,429	N/A
		2021(2.0% and	18 year S	tep)				
Patrol Officer	3020	55,166	73,747	90,044	94,616	99,345	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	104,314	111,618	114,967
MPO - Assignment	3005	57,924	77,433	94,548	99,345	104,314	109,530	111,618	114,967
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	104,314	109,530	111,618	111,618	114,967
			2022 (2	2.0%)					
Patrol Officer	3020	56,269	75,222	91,845	96,508	101,332	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	106,400	113,850	117,266
MPO - Assignment	3005	59,082	78,982	96,439	101,332	106,400	111,721	113,850	117,266
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	106,400	111,721	113,850	113,850	117,266
			<u>2023(2.</u>	<u>49%)</u>					
Patrol Officer	3020	57,670	77,095	94,132	98,911	103,855	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	109,049	116,685	120,186
MPO - Assignment	3005	60,553	80,949	98,840	103,855	109,049	114,503	116,685	120,186
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	109,049	114,503	116,685	116,685	120,186
			2024(2	.0%)					
Patrol Officer	3020	58,823	78,637	96,015	100,889	105,932	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	111,230	119,019	122,590
MPO - Assignment	3005	61,764	82,568	100,817	105,932	111,230	116,793	119,019	122,590
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	111,230	116,793	119,019	119,019	122,590





APPENDIX "G"

ELECTION, WAIVER AND RELEASE TO USE GRIEVANCE/ARBITRATION WITH REGARD TO DISCIPLINE SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE JOLIET BOARD OF FIRE AND POLICE COMMISSIONERS

1,		. (Star No.). being	a subject to
discipline by the City	of Joliet Police Departm	, (Star No), being ent (including suspension from duty	with or without
		elect to pursue a grievance over	
according to the app	ropriate provisions of the	collective bargaining agreement b	etween the City
		ouncil. I agree that such grievance	shali be my sole
remedy to the exclusi	ion of other remedies ava	allable to me.	
I acknowledge	e that by making this elec	tion of remedy I am waiving the righ	ts and remedies
		available to me, such as provided	
		35 ILCS 5/10 <i>et seq.</i> , as amended	
rights and remedies a	afforded to me under the	provisions of the collective bargai	ning agreement
		P Labor Council. Furthermore, the	
		ned a grievance and considered	
		ocess alternative, I acknowledge my se the proposed discipline immedi	
		arbitrator should I or the Union cho	
grievance through arl			oco to parodo d
		suspension or discharge, I hereby	
		Commissioners and the Illinois FOF ployees, attorneys, and other repre	
	nich flows as a conseque		sentatives ironi
,,		,,	
Signed this	day of	, 20	
Subscribed and swor	n to before me this	day of	, 20
		Materia District Office to	
		Notary Public, Illinois	
		•	
		My commission expires	

Union

APPENDIX "H"

ELECTION, WAIVER AND RELEASE TO HAVE A HEARING BEFORE THE JOUET BOARD OF FIRE AND POLICE COMMISSIONERS WITH REGARD TO DISCIPLINE

I, discipline by the City of Joli		, (Star No), being	subject to
discipline by the City of Jolio working days or more, with on have a hearing before the Ci so, I waive the right to file a agreement over that disciplin	or without pay or t ity of Joliet's Boar and/or pursue a ç	ermination of empl d of Fire and Polic	loyment) he e Commiss	ereby elect to sion. In doing
l acknowledge that ch termination with the Joliet Bo				ithout pay or
By election to have Commissioners over my sus Illinois FOP Labor Council, attorneys, and other repreconsequence of my election.	pension or discha as well as thei sentatives from	rge, I hereby relea r officers, director	se the Cityrs, agents,	of Joliet, the employees,
Signed this	day of	, 2	0	
Subscribed and sworn to bef	ore me this	day of	F	, 20
		Notary Public, Illii	าดเร	

Union

APPENDIX "I"

Memorandum of Understanding 12 Hour Shifts

May 16, 2012

This is an agreement amending the contract between the City of Joliet Police Department, and the Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council (FOPLC) creating 12-hour work-day shifts for 24/7 employees of the Operations Patrol Division. All other Officers not currently assigned to a Patrol Shift will remain unaffected by this Memorandum.

The following issues were discussed at the meetings to date and are understood by both parties as follows:

- Patrol Officers currently work a twelve (12) hour work day schedule.
- The 12-hour shift rotates days-off on a two-week cycle, 3 days on, 2 days off, 2 days on, 3 days off, 2 days on, 2 days off, and then repeats itself.
- Days worked the first week are days off the second week of this schedule.
- On a 12-hour shift, members would work 84 hours in a 2-week period; or 7 work days every two weeks; 14 work days in a 4-week period.
- Shift assignments are set on an annual basis, beginning with the distribution, collection and sorting of Hours of Work Request forms by the Operations Division Commander or his designee.
- Hours of Work Requests are sorted based upon member's department seniority, with the requisite number of officers needed to meet operational needs assigned to Dayshift and Nightshift. Members are then divided between "A" squads (Days/Nights) and "B" squads (Days/Nights) by alternating the assignments to each based on seniority (i.e., the no. 1 senior member is assigned to "A" squad, the no. 2 senior member is assigned to "B" squad, no. 3 assigned to "A", no. 4 assigned to "B", etc.).
- On the current 12-hour shift, members work an additional 104 hours over their required schedule. Eight (8) twelve (12) hour days and one (1) eight (8) hour day is owed back to each member that works the twelve hour work day schedule for an entire year and will be awarded in the form of Duty Reduction Days (DRDs). Members that work the twelve hour schedule for less than an entire year will have their Duty Reduction Days prorated accordingly. It is agreed that each member will schedule these Duty Reduction Days during their annual vacation draw. It will be the member's choice to either schedule vacation for the upcoming year or leave their accumulated time "in the bank", pursuant to rules governing vacation accrual in the current bargaining agreement, however the member's Duty Reduction Days must be scheduled at this time.
- Any training sessions that an officer attends at the Joliet Police Department or within an hour's drive time of the Joliet Police Department will require the officer

Union

to (1) maintain their twelve hour workday and report to the on-duty shift lieutenant upon completion of the training **or** (2) submit a leave of absence request form to cover the remaining time. When officers attend training sessions that are located outside of an hour's drive from the Joliet Police Department, they will not be required to report for duty upon completion of the training. The distance of the training site from the police department will be determined by the Training Coordinator and will be indicated on the department personnel order.

- All sectors plus one cover car will be fully staffed for all shifts.
- The vacation/DRD draw will take place annually, in the latter part of the year after the upcoming year's shift assignments have been set. The vacation/DRD draw for each shift/squad will be facilitated by that shift/squad's lieutenant(s).
- Members will schedule their vacations and Duty Reduction Days simultaneously, based on department seniority relative to the shift/squad that they are assigned to.
- When scheduling DRDs, members will schedule eight (8) twelve (12) hour work days off where there are available openings/slots in the DRD column of the vacation/DRD draw calendar. Members will also choose a day to apply the remaining eight (8) DRD hours to. It will be the member's responsibility to submit a leave of absence request to cover the remaining four (4) hours of the shift if desired. The leave of absence request can be submitted at anytime from the date of the draw up until the time currently allowed by department policy.
- Members that enter patrol after the annual vacation/DRD draw has concluded will be allowed to schedule their DRDs on any date that their shift/squad seniority would have allowed them to had they participated in the annual draw. In the event that a day is requested that already has the maximum number of officers (2) scheduled off on DRD, an exception to the maximum will be allowed and the member will be added to the date in question.
- During the scheduling of vacations, members will adhere to the current contractual language which divides the process into a "first" and "second" draw. During the "first draw", members will be allowed to schedule vacation hours that have been accrued through December 31st of the year in which the draw occurs. Vacations must be scheduled in full one week blocks. Any vacation time remaining after scheduling all possible full one week blocks from the annual accrual may be scheduled as a single day. No less than twelve (12) hours of vacation time remaining from the annual accrual may be scheduled as a single day. If a member wishes to participate in the "second draw", it will be the member's responsibility to notify the shift/squad lieutenant at the time of the first draw. During the "second draw", a member may schedule any remaining accrued vacation time that is in their "bank"; during this draw, members may schedule vacation time in either available full one week blocks or available single days.
- If a member enters patrol after the annual vacation/DRD draw has concluded, any
 vacations that the member has scheduled during the annual department vacation
 draw in their previous unit/division will be honored. In the event that the maximum
 number of officers that are allowed to be scheduled off on vacation (3) has already

M.M.

been reached, an exception to the maximum will be allowed and the member will be added to the date in question. If a member previously assigned to another unit/division did not participate in the department's annual vacation draw, then that member will only be allowed to schedule vacations during blocks that are available.

- A workday for members working under this agreement is 12 hours. Anytime worked past 12 hours in a 24 hour period will be compensated at 1 ½ times the regular hourly rate of pay.
- Master Patrol Officers and Patrol Officers using accrued time (Compensatory, Vacation, Sick, Personal, and Management Leave), will be assessed 12 hours. All leave and suspension time will be accrued or deducted in hours, not days. A suspension day for personnel working under this agreement will be the equivalent of eight (8) hours.
- Regular Bi-Weekly payroll, the salary schedule, stipends and other compensation are not affected by this memorandum.
- Both parties understand that some unforeseen issues, occurrences, and/or oversights may develop. Both parties agree to meet and discuss these in a timely and reasonable manner if and when they occur.
- Parties agree to monitor the schedule and take note of concerns, issues, or other questions as they develop.
- Any dispute over the terms of this Memorandum of Understanding shall be resolved via the grievance procedure as laid out in Article V of the Contract.
- This Memorandum of Understanding shall be in effect from the date of ratification of the Contract by both parties until the expiration of the Contract, December 31, 2015, and shall be subject to the terms of the Duration Clause contained in Section 25.2 of the Contract. If notice is given pursuant to the Duration Clause contained in Section 25.2 of the Contract, the terms of this Memorandum of Understanding shall remain in full force and effect after the expiration date while negotiations or resolution of impasse procedures are continuing for a new Contract, or part thereof, between the parties.
- Any impasse concerning the negotiation of the terms of this Memorandum of Understanding shall be resolved under the impasse resolution procedure set forth in 5 ILCS 315/14.

2,186 hours / 12 hours = 182 work days

365 - 182 = 183 days off

183 days off + 8.75 Duty Reduction Days = 191.75 days off per year

Michael P. Trafton Chief of Police Michael Devito

President FOPLO

MUJY)
Jnion

2,186 hours / 12 hours = 182 work days

365 - 182 = 183 days off

183 days off + 8.75 Duty Reduction Days = 191.75 days off per year

Michael P. Trafton

Chief of Police

Michael Devito President FOPLC

APPENDIX "J"

Step		A-1	B-2	C-3	D-4	E-5	F-6	G-7	H-8	1-9	J-10	K-11
Yrs. Service		(0-1)	(1-2)	(2-3)	(3-6)	(6-9)	(9-12)	(12-15)	(15-18)	(18-20)	(20-25)	(25+)
Position	Code #											
					202	22						
Patrol Officer	3020	2,133	2,825	3,419	3,603	3,779	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	3,964	4,237	4,289	4,413	4,431	4,449
MPO - Assignment	3005	2,235	2,962	3,600	3,779	3,964	4,159	4,237	4,289	4,413	4,431	4,449
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	3,964	4,159	4,237	4,237	4,289	4,413	4,431	4,449
					202	<u>13</u>						
Patrol Officer	3020	2,186	2,895	3,504	3,693	3,873	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	4,063	4,343	4,396	4,523	4,541	4,5
MPO - Assignment	3005	2,291	3,036	3,690	3,873	4,063	4,263	4,343	4,396	4,523	4,541	4,5
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	4,063	4,263	4,343	4,343	4,396	4,523	4,541	4,5
					202	24						
Patrol Officer	3020	2,230	2,953	3,574	3,767	3,950	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
MPO - Seniority	3010	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	4,144	4,430	4,484	4,613	4,632	4,6
MPO - Assignment	3005	2,337	3,097	3,764	3,950	4,144	4,348	4,430	4,484	4,613	4,632	4,6
MPO - (3 + Years)	3000	N/A	N/A	N/A	4,144	4,348	4,430	4,430	4,484	4,613	4,632	4,6



